INFORMATION TO USERS

This material was produced from a microfilm copy of the original document. While the most advanced technological means to photograph and reproduce this document have been used, the quality is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original submitted.

The following explanation of techniques is provided to help you understand markings or patterns which may appear on this reproduction.

- The sign or "target" for pages apparently lacking from the document photographed is "Missing Page(s)". If it was possible to obtain the missing page(s) or section, they are spliced into the film along with adjacent pages. This may have necessitated cutting thru an image and duplicating adjacent pages to insure you complete continuity.
- 2. When an image on the film is obliterated with a large round black mark, it is an indication that the photographer suspected that the copy may have moved during exposure and thus cause a blurred image. You will find a good image of the page in the adjacent frame.
- 3. When a map, drawing or chart, etc., was part of the material being photographed the photographer followed a definite method in "sectioning" the material. It is customary to begin photoing at the upper left hand corner of a large sheet and to continue photoing from left to right in equal sections with a small overlap. If necessary, sectioning is continued again beginning below the first row and continuing on until complete.
- 4. The majority of users indicate that the textual content is of greatest value, however, a somewhat higher quality reproduction could be made from "photographs" if essential to the understanding of the dissertation. Silver prints of "photographs" may be ordered at additional charge by writing the Order Department, giving the catalog number, title, author and specific pages you wish reproduced.
- 5. PLEASE NOTE: Some pages may have indistinct print. Filmed as received.

Xerox University Microfilms

300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106

76-9193

NWOBODO, Ikechukwu C., 1946-THE DETERMINANTS OF PORTFOLIO SELECTION BY LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES AND THE EFFECTS OF MONETARY POLICY ON THEIR PORTFOLIOS.

Iowa State University, Ph.D., 1975 Ph.D., 1975 Economics, general

Xerox University Microfilms, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED.

The determinants of portfolio selection by life insurance companies and the effects of monetary policy on their portfolios

by

Ikechukwu C. Nwobodo

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Economics

Approved

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Work

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For (the Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL DISCUSSION OF THE TOPIC	1
Sources and Uses of Funds by Life Insurance Companies	4
Investment Trend	5
Factors Governing Investment Policies	6
CHAPTER II. A REVIEW OF RELATED STUDIES	8
CHAPTER III. THEORETICAL FOUNDATION OF LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY PORTFOLIO SELECTION	15
Securities and Attributes of Securities	15
Uncertainties that Affect the Risk Rating of Various Securities	16
CHAPTER IV. MONETARY POLICY AND ITS EFFECTS ON SECURITY PRICES AND YIELDS	22
CHAPTER V. PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS	27
CHAPTER VI. DERIVATION OF THE ASSET DEMAND EQUATIONS	46
CHAPTER VII. ESTIMATION OF THE DEMAND EQUATIONS, HYPOTHESES TESTING AND RESULTS	54
The Hypotheses that will be Tested	57
The Demand for Mortgage Holdings	58
The Demand for Corporate Bonds	64
The Demand for Stocks	72
The Demand for U.S. Government Bonds	78
The Demand for State-Local Government Bonds	85
Policy Loans	92
The Demand for Policy Loans	95

ii

CHAPTER VIII. IMPACT OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM MONETARY POLICY ON LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES' PORTFOLIOS	103
CHAPTER IX. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FURTHER STUDIES	114
BIBLIOGRAPHY	120
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	123
APPENDIX	124
Sources of Data	124
Variable Dictionary	125

Page

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL DISCUSSION OF THE TOPIC

The life insurance industry provides the means through which individuals and families offer financial protection to their dependents in case of the death of the policyholder. The industry also provides a channel through which individuals can save some of their surplus funds to provide for retirement and contingencies.

As financial intermediaries, life insurance companies help reduce the cost of capital. Because of the vast sums of funds they work with, they can reduce substantially the per unit cost of gathering and analyzing information on available direct securities by equipping and maintaining a staff of specialists that concerns itself with nothing but this aspect of their operations. Also, because of the large pool of funds at their command, they can reduce the per unit cost of transactions -- the cost of buying, holding and selling securities. This is so because they can spread costs over a larger volume of assets than can most individuals. For most individuals, the safety of their principal can be greatly enhanced if they can hold a variety of direct securities whose prices do not all move in a parallel way. They can reduce default risk by holding a variety of debt claims and ownership claims against several debtors. However, most

individuals simply do not have the large amounts of funds or expertise it would take to achieve the cost savings or effective diversification of their assets.

Also, it would be time consuming, inefficient and costly if such deficit units as large corporations that need vast sums of funds to finance their operations had to deal with millions of individuals each with only a small amount of funds to invest in any one period.

Thus, life insurance companies, along with other financial intermediaries, help bring together the surplus and deficit units or savers and dissavers in the economy. This helps maintain and promote a smooth and orderly functioning of the credit and capital market. Because they operate with vast sums of money, they can buy and hold a large number of different securities. They can buy each security in lots large enough to achieve lower transactions costs. Through expert management, they can diversify their assets in ways that would eliminate risk to a degree that would not be possible for most individuals who only have small sums of money to work with.

The objective of this study, is to isolate those primary factors that influence life insurance companies in their allocation of funds among the various competing assets and also to determine, in a limited way, the impact of monetary policy on the portfolio decisions of life insurance companies.

In general, it could be argued that the efficiency of the financial sector of the economy would have some influence on the savings-versus-consumption decisions of the public. It is thus of interest to try to shed some light on capital allocation by life insurance companies and the impact monetary policy has on this allocative process.

If monetary policy is to serve as an effective stabilization tool, different securities in the portfolios of life insurance companies and other financial intermediaries would be expected to be good substitutes for one another. For instance, if the Federal Reserve System (Fed) is pursuing a tight monetary policy by selling government securities in the open market, one can argue that this policy would not be a very effective stabilizing tool, unless government bonds and corporate bonds, as an example, are substitutes for one another in the portfolio.

Assuming rational economic behavior, it can be argued that capital should flow into areas with the highest rates of return. If two securities are good substitutes, a small change in the rate of return of one, should induce an adjustment in the relative quantities held of the two. For example, a small increase in the corporate bond rate relative to the mortgage rate should attract funds toward corporate bonds and corporate investments and away from mortgage lending and home building. If the two securities are poor substitutes or

independent, then it might take huge shifts in the rates of return to induce a desired flow of funds in the capital market. This implies inefficiency of the capital markets to allocate funds effectively and would impede the effectiveness of monetary policy as a stabilization tool.

Sources and Uses of Funds by Life Insurance Companies

Life insurance companies' funds are derived from three main sources (Life Insurance Association of America, 1962): new money derived from net savings by policyholders in life insurance companies; return flow from invested funds, which arises from amortization, maturities and other repayments of bonds and mortgages; outright sales of long-term assets from the portfolio or drawing down of cash and short-term security holdings.

Savings though life insurance companies differ fundamentally from savings through such deposit-type institutions as mutual savings banks and savings and loan associations in at least three important aspects (Life Insurance Association of America, 1962, pp. 8-9):

- 1. Life insurance savings are long-term and contractual in nature and therefore are more stable.
- 2. They are motivated primarily by the desire for family financial protection in the event of death.

3. They are ordinarily expected to be left intact until the death of the insured rather than withdrawn for some consumer expenditure.

Investment Trend

The long-term nature of life insurance contracts has led to preferred investments by life insurance companies largely in long-term fixed-income assets. This means that reserves have been placed primarily in investments bearing a fixed rate of return, regular payments of interest over the life of the loan, and scheduled repayment in a fixed number of dollars. This would provide a characteristic of stability over time paralleling the contractual obligations of life insurance companies to policyholders. Investments primarily in longs, also would avoid added transactions costs of reinvestments that would arise from investing in shorts and would avoid volatility and instability associated with shorter-term securities' rates.

Specifically, life insurance companies' reserves have been placed primarily in the following assets: mortgages, corporate bonds, and U.S. government securities. Other assets in their portfolios include stocks, real estate, and state, local, and foreign government securities.

ž

Factors Governing Investment Policies

We assume that life insurance companies as an industry, are profit maximizers, that is, they strive for the highest possible rates of return. There are some constraints, however, foremost among which is the risk involved with holding each class of securities.

In addition to the strictly financial and economic motivation of profit, there also may be a public interest aspect to the investment policies of life insurance companies. By this is meant that the companies might wish to project the image of a good corporate citizen and portray themselves as serving the direct and immediate needs and interests of their policyholders by engaging in residential mortgage lending, housing projects and small business loans, even when these may not be the most profitable outlets for their funds. They also may buy an unusual quantity of government bonds during war times, for instance, as a patriotic gesture.

There is also the need to maintain a desired liquidity level by the companies. This need might be for an operating balance of cash and bank deposits, to guard against the possibility of unforeseen contingencies that might increase death benefits, for example, wars or epidemics; or also to remain sufficiently flexible to take advantage of worthwhile investment opportunities that may arise.

There are several statutory limitations on the investment policies of life insurance companies, and also regulations governing valuations of securities. These regulations vary from state to state. They are designed presumably to insure the diversification of life insurance company portfolios. Essentially, they require that investments in different areas meet certain criteria. For a detailed discussion of these regulations, see Life Insurance Association of America (1962).

CHAPTER II. A REVIEW OF RELATED STUDIES

The literature on portfolio selection is voluminous. Surprisingly though, studies on the portfolio behavior of life insurance companies or specifically studies on the factors determining portfolio choice by life insurance companies are almost nonexistent. This, despite the fact that life insurance companies are one of the largest financial intermediaries in terms of total assets.

The lack of studies on portfolio management by life insurance companies may be a result of the fact that the life insurance industry is highly regulated. The regulations vary from state to state and cover such areas as what assets may be held in the portfolio, and what percentage of the portfolio may be devoted to some of the assets. Thus, it might appear on the surface, given the myriad of regulations, that life insurance companies are virtually "locked in" in terms of what they can or cannot do, and that their portfolio behavior is determined just as much, if not more, by such institutional factors as regulations and changes in tax laws as by market returns on the various assets they hold in their portfolios.

Kenneth Kleefeld in a study of the postwar demand for financial assets, (Special Stuckes Paper, Number 33, July 17, 1973), included life insurance companies as one of the

investor classes he studied. His study, however, focussed on whether households and institutional investors reacted similarly to changes in market yields on time deposits, bonds and equities. He specified an aggregative model which determined endogenously the asset demand of the various investor classes as separate aggregates.

Kleefeld started with an investor's utility function, which is exponential in portfolio income during the investment period:

$$U(\pi) = e^{-b\pi};$$
 (2.1)

where

 π = portfolio income, and

b = investor's coefficient of absolute risk aversion. Assuming that the rates of return on n alternative assets have a multivariate normal distribution, with a mean vector <u>r</u> and covariance matrix S, he asserted, without showing how, that maximizing expected utility would yield the following vector of "optimal" asset holdings:

$$A = -WH + (1/b)Gr,$$
 (2.2)

where

 \underline{A} = n-order column vector of optimal asset holdings, W = investor's total assets { = $\sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i$ } i=1 i

$$G = S^{-1} - \frac{S^{-1} \underline{i} S^{-1}}{\underline{i} S^{-1} \underline{i}} = symmetric matrix of asset rate of return coefficients.$$

$$H = \frac{s^{-1}\underline{i}}{\underline{i}'s^{-1}\underline{i}}$$

and

i = n-order column vector of ones.

By assuming that the utility function is exponential in the portfolio rate of return, π/W , and substituting b/W for b in A = -WH + (1/b)Gr, we get

$$A = -WH + (W/b)Gr$$
(2.3)

Dividing both sides of (2.3) by W, yields

$$A/W = -H + (1/b)Gr$$
 (2.4)

Equation (2.4) implies the demand equation for each asset is homogenous of degree one in total assets and linear in asset rates of return.

In his estimated model, the expected nominal rates of return on the nonmonetary assets and investor class holdings of each asset were determined within his model, while the total supply of each asset and the total assets of each investor class were exogenous.

In the present study, rates of return will be treated as exogenous and life insurance companies will then be expected to react to them in terms of allocating their portfolio to the various assets. In this study, portfolio decision, as will be argued in the theory chapter, is determined by extrinsic asset yields and their associated risks and not by intrinsic qualities represented by corresponding utility function parameters as have been specified by Kleefeld.

Kleefeld, perhaps, was forced to resort to the use of a utility function because the focus of his study was a comparison between consumers' and institutional investors' reactions to changing yields. Consumers, it is generally argued, maximize utility, and for businesses, it is usually argued that underlying profit maximization is some utility function.

On a priori grounds, one would question the appropriateness of specifying a utility function exponential in the portfolio rate of return and deriving the asset demand equation from these for an institutional investor such as life insurance companies. In the actual estimation of the model, Kleefeld did not include mortgages as an asset held by life insurance companies. Mortgages averaged about 32 per cent of total life insurance companies' portfolios during the years covered by his study (Life Insurance Fact Book, 1974). The exclusion of such a major asset, would introduce serious bias to his simultaneous equation system.

In terms of empirical results, Kleefeld writes:

The least satisfactory model estimates were for the highly regulated life insurance sector, as (1) two of this sector's four nonmonetary asset demand equations have estimated own-rate coefficients which are both negative and significant at the .05 level in one-tailed tests... (Special Studies Paper, 33, p. 18).

The negative own-rate coefficient was one problem encountered in some of the estimated equations in the present study. Although that result is corroborated by Kleefeld's study, one is still left somewhat amiss trying to explain it.

Kleefeld also reported that cross-rate coefficient symmetry conditions did not hold in general. In other words, the estimated demand equation for security A may imply substitutability between A and B while the estimated demand for B may imply complementarity between the two. A similar problem was encountered in the present study with respect to the relationship between the smaller assets such as state and local government and U.S. government bonds with the major assets such as bonds and mortgages.

The negative own-rate coefficient and nonsymmetry problems appear rather pervasive in many of the recent institutional investor studies -- and are not limited to just life insurance companies.

Straszheim (1971), and Hendershott (1971) both reported such problems in their studies. Neither one could explain the cause of the problem.

William Silber, in his study of the portfolio behavior of

financial institutions, used a stock adjustment formulation for his asset demand equations (Silber, 1970). The form of his estimated equations is as follows:

$$X_{t} = a(X_{t}^{*} - X_{t-1})$$
 (2.5)

where

0<a<1;

 $\Delta X_t = X_t - X_{t-1},$

refers to the flow into security X during time period t;

 X_t^* represents the desired holdings of security X, and

His general expression for X_t^* is:

$$x_{t}^{*} = b_{1}^{+}b_{j}^{(i_{j})+}b_{j+n}^{A}$$
 (2.6)

where

{i_;} is a set of interest rates that is relevant for
 portfolio choice,

and

A is the level of assets.

He estimated the demand for only three of the assets in the portfolios of life insurance companies: U.S. government bonds, corporate bonds and mortgages, on the rationale that these three were the major assets constituting more than 80 per cent of the total portfolio.

His hypotheses were tests of substitutability and comple-

mentarity between pairs of the securities. The substitutecomplement relationships established by the results indicate that portfolio allocation by life insurance companies responds to interest rate changes. In estimating the demand for government bonds, the only interest rate variable he used was the own rate. Its t-value was insignificant. According to Silber, when other rates were included, all the t-values were less than .5 and some of the signs were incorrect. His demand equation for corporate bonds suggests they are substitutes both for governments and mortgages. The mortgage demand equation suggests that mortgages are substitutes for corporates and are complements with governments.

CHAPTER III. THEORETICAL FOUNDATION OF LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY PORTFOLIO SELECTION Securities and Attributes of Securities

Securities, in general, have two major attributes -their rates of return or yields and the risk associated with each security. By the rate of return is meant that in each time period, the investor knows the current rate of return on each security and also has some concept of the probability distributions of expected rates of return over the desired holding period. As used in this study, security yields or rates of return represent the mean or expected value of the probability distribution of returns. The risk associated with holding each security will be a measure of the dispersion of outcomes around the expected value. When considering different alternatives, investors base their decisions on these expected returns and the risk of each security.

The overall risk of a portfolio can be reduced through diversification. While diversification can reduce risk, unfortunately, it can not eliminate risk completely because security returns are highly correlated. If the investor could find assets whose returns are perfectly negatively correlated, then he could eliminate risk entirely from his portfolio by holding only those assets. Unfortunately, since all securities are subject to the same common forces, albeit

in varying degrees, this is seldom, if ever, possible. At the other extreme, if the returns on all securities of similar maturities were perfectly positively correlated, that is if the rates of returns on all securities rose and fell by the same proportions at the same times, then diversification would not reduce risk at all. However, securities' returns. though highly correlated, are neither perfectly positively nor perfectly negatively correlated. Thus, it is possible to reduce, to some degree, the overall risk of a portfolio through diversification. To achieve this, investors would avoid those securities whose returns are highly positively correlated. However, there is a trade off between risk reduction and yield, that is, risk reduction may be sacrificed to some extent under the inducement of higher yields.

Uncertainties that Affect the Risk Rating of Various Securities

There are several factors that affect the degree of risk associated with each security. Tobin discussed four of these (Tobin, 1965):

- 1. Purchasing power risk -- Uncertainty about the purchasing power of the dollar affects securities with fixed face value in money terms.
- Uncertainty about future interest rates -- Capital gains or losses will be made on interest-bearing bonds depending on whether future rates fall or rise.

- 3. Default risk -- This has to do with the ability of the issuing company to redeem debt claims against it.
- 4. Profitability risk -- private equities are subject to the specific risk of uncertainty regarding the earning power of a particular firm.

A fifth risk suggested by William Silber (Silber, 1970), is the marketability risk. If two securities are identical in all respects except that one has a well-organized secondary market and the other has a poor secondary market, investors in the latter run the risk of being able to liquidate their security holdings only at a depressed price compared with the price offered for the security with the better market.

The above risk classification can be used to analyze and contrast the different securities in the portfolios of life insurance companies. In general, securities with similar risks are more likely to be substitutes for each other in the portfolio while those with different or independent risks are more likely to be complements and can be used to diversify the portfolio.

If the risk components of different securities compensate for each other to a great extent, the diversification of the portfolio might actually result in a complementary relationship between these securities, that is, an increase in the yield on Security A, might increase the demand for Security B at the expense of another group of substitute assets.

Two commodities a and b are substitutes if $\frac{\partial Q_a}{\partial P_b} > 0$, i.e. <u>ceteris paribus</u>, if an increase in price (P) of good b leads to an increase in the quantity demanded (Q) of good a (Henderson and Quandt, 1971).

Extending this definition to the securities market and keeping in mind that it is the expected yield on securities rather than their price which makes them more or less attractive to investors, two securities would be substitutes if $\frac{\partial Q_a}{\partial r_b} < 0$; where r_b is the interest rate or yield on security B and $\frac{\partial Q_a}{\partial r_b} > 0$ implies a complementary relationship.

Whereas consumer demand theory usually abstracts from the effect of expectations on the demand for different goods, expectations about future interest rates play an important role in securities demand.

Changes in current rates of interest influence expected future rates, which in turn, influence the current demand for securities. Current yields on the various securities, however, are good proxies for their expected yields.

We can classify the securities in the portfolios of life insurance companies according to maturity -- the distinction between short-term government bonds and long-term government bonds or, according to issuer -- the distinction between long-term government bonds and corporate bonds.

Of major concern in this study will be the degree of

substitutability of securities classified by issuer and not by maturity. In other words, we are restricting the investment process by life insurance companies. This restriction implies that if the portfolio manager is considering investing in long-term mortgages, the alternative is not negotiable certificates of deposits or treasury bills, but long-term government bonds or long-term corporate bonds. This is not to deny that life insurance companies buy and hold certificates of deposits and treasury bills. Rather, the restriction is meant to bypass the term structure of interest rates issue, since that is not the major focus of this study. One is fairly safe in imposing the above restriction because the obligations of life insurance companies are contractual in nature, long-term and actuarially predictable and as a result, most of their investments have traditionally been in long-term assets.

We can now examine the groups of securities in life insurance company portfolios, classified according to issuer, with respect to susceptibility to the various categories of risk. The discussion that follows parallels what will be stated more formally later as part of the hypotheses that will be tested.

In general, all bonds face the threat of inflation, whereas real assets or equity capital do not. Thus an in-

vestor can hedge against inflation or purchasing power risk by holding both equities and bonds.

Default risk differentiates between U.S. government securities and securities of other borrowers. This is because investors know the government will always meet its obligations to creditors. The government can always raise taxes or print new money to redeem its debt. This is not true of private debtors.

Marketability risk -- The existence of a well-organized secondary market is another measure of risk (Robinson, 1964). Robinson established U.S. government securities as having the best secondary market, with state-local government and corporate securities in a close tie for the next best secondary market and mortgages trailing.

On the basis of the discussion of the various risks and how they affect the various assets, one would hypothesize that equity capital and bonds would lend themselves to a <u>comple-</u> <u>mentary</u> relationship in a portfolio, given the relative independence of their risks.

Mortgages, which are relatively illiquid and with a poor secondary market would tend to be <u>complementary</u> in a portfolio with government securities. Although both share similar risks because of inflation and the future course of interest rates, an increase in the yield of mortgages and thus the amount of mortgage holdings might lead to an increase

in holdings of governments to maintain a desired liquidity position, at the expense of a third group of securities. This third group might be corporate or state-local bonds, which have a poorer secondary market than governments but not so poor as mortgages.

Mortgages would tend to be <u>substitutes</u> for either corporate or state-local government bonds, since the liquidity distinction does not exist between mortgages versus corporates or versus municipals as it does between governments and mortgages.

Governments will most likely be <u>substitutes</u> for both state-local and corporates. All three share purchasing power risk and interest rate risk. The default risk distinction between governments and state-local and corporates can be suppressed as negligible by assuming that life insurance companies only consider high quality bonds for investment.

Corporates and state-local securities share similar risks and might serve the same purpose in a portfolio and thus would tend to be <u>substitutes</u>. However, the interest on state and local government bonds is tax free, which would tend to make them an attractive profitable investment. This feature of state and local government bonds should be reflected in their yields and should not make any difference with respect to the risk classification described earlier.

CHAPTER IV. MONETARY POLICY AND ITS EFFECTS ON SECURITY PRICES AND YIELDS

Because the flow of life insurance company investments is distributed among several securities spanning virtually the entire national market for loanable funds, there are many points at which one would expect that Federal Reserve System (Fed) policy can exert influence.

As discussed earlier, life insurance company investments are mostly in long-term, fixed-income obligations, which are subject to wide swings in market prices occasioned by changes in long-term interest rates. Life insurance companies are competitive and seek the highest returns from their portfolios and thus would be sensitive to changing differentials in investment yields. An example of the effect of the Fed's policy might be as follows:

An easy money policy would increase the net free reserves of commercial banks. This would increase the availability of loanable funds and lower rates on loans. The policy, at least initially, could be expected to result in an increase in commercial banks' purchases of short-term government securities, resulting in a decline in yields of shorter-term government securities. The reduction in yield and the increased availability of loanable funds would act to bring down the entire structure of short-term loan rates.

22

and a second second

As the rates on shorts decline, banks would tend to become more competitive in the long-term lending field. A reduction in short-term rates and a tendency for long-term rates to soften would encourage prospective long-term borrowers to make greater use of short-term commercial bank financing in anticipation of lower long-term borrowing costs.

One possible effect of all this could be a decline in the yield of new offerings of corporate bonds. If the yield on corporates declines, life insurance companies, given the risk differentiation above, could be expected to shift investment emphasis to mortgages, thus transmitting the crediteasing effect to the residential mortgage market by increasing availability of funds in that area.

The speed with which this can be done will be dictated by demand and supply and the expectations of investors. When the Fed creates expectations of credit ease, the increased willingness of investors to commit their funds while rates are still comparatively high should strengthen market forces toward ease and vice versa.

In summary, credit ease would tend to lead to a fully committed forward position and investment shifts to areas where yields are not declining as fast, e.g., from corporate bonds to residential mortgages, especially government-underwritten mortgages.

On the other hand, when the Fed shifts to a stringent monetary policy and tightens the reserve position of banks and thus the general availability of bank credit, to obtain funds for loan expansion, banks would dispose of shorterterm government securities. This would result in a rise in short-term interest rates. An expanding demand for business and industrial loans would also contribute to this rise.

Thus, with expanding loan demand and rising short-term interest rates, commercial banks would tend to reduce their term-lending and their purchases of state and local government bonds, thus contributing to lesser availability of longterm financing.

The rise in short-term rates, would tend to induce more demand for long-term borrowing, setting in motion a general rise of long-term rates. This rise will be reinforced and accelerated by the expectations of borrowers and investors.

When borrowers expect increasing rates, they would seek financing promptly to avoid expected higher rates. And as investors anticipate rising rates, they would be less willing to commit fully their anticipated cash flow in order to take advantage of expected higher rates in the future.

Thus, tightening the credit spigot would affect the long-term capital markets through arbitrage and expectations.

As yields on corporate bonds rise, life insurance

companies would tend to be less willing to assume a fully committed position with respect to their cash flow. Investment emphasis should shift to areas where yields are sensitive and rising and away from areas where yields are slower to change. Specifically, this would mean shifting to direct placements of corporate securities and industrial and commercial mortgages and away from government-insured and guaranteed mortgages, where interest rates are less flexible.

The rising rates, also might impair the ability of life insurance companies to generate cash flows for investment. Monetary policy affects the value of fixed-income assets. Tight money policy would affect the ability of the companies to raise investible funds through the sale of existing holdings.

As interest rates rise in response to market pressures and a restrictive credit policy, capital values of fixedincome obligations decline so that any effort to sell existing holdings would be at a loss. However, life insurance companies may still sell securities at a loss to raise funds with which to acquire higher-yielding securities or mortgages, if the higher return after taxes on the new securities will make up for the loss in a short time.

Policy loans might increase as a result of tight money. As interest rates rise, policyholders may find it advantageous

to borrow on their policies with fixed contractual rates, if that rate becomes lower than the rate charged by commercial banks. While this may not necessarily affect the cash flow of life insurance companies, it might result in a decline of cash flow for investments in bonds and mortgages. It could make companies more cautious about forward commitment and raise concern about their liquidity positions.

Tight money also might have some effect on mortgage repayments, which constitute an important part of the gross cash flow of life insurance companies. Regular amortization and partial prepayment would not be affected, but refinancing mortgages and thus unscheduled repayments might decline.

Federal debt management policy, though not of specific interest in this study, would affect life insurance companies in about the same ways as general policy measures by the Fed. By easing or restricting credit, debt management would result in changes in interest rates and expectations and thus investments. These, just as the actions by the Fed, would cause shifts in the direction of the flow of funds, affect the capital values of assets, result in changes in total cash flow of companies, and affect forward commitment policies.

CHAPTER V. PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS

It was stated earlier that the objective of life insurammace companies is to maximize the rate of return on their portfolios subject to some constraints. To achieve this objective would require that the companies hold efficient portfoliinios at all times and adjust those portfolios as rates of returns # or risks change over time.

An efficient portfolio is one that has the maximum return in its risk class, or one that has the minimum risk in its return class, and is a legitimate portfolio, i.e. has no negative weights for some securities (Markowitz, 1959). To achieve this efficient portfolio means efficient diversification of the portfolio.

Markowitz efficient diversification involves combining securities whose rates of return are less than perfectly positively correlated in order to reduce risk in the portfolio without sacrificing any of the portfolio's return. Im m general, the lower the correlation of the rates of return of # the assets in a portfolio, the less risky the portfolio will 1 be, regardless of the risk associated with individual assets # contained in the portfolio (Markowitz, 1959).

If the investment manager were operating in a world of certainty, and if perfect information were available in advance on the returns and risks of the various securities, here

simply would invest his wealth in the one asset with the highest expected return in order to maximize his utility. However, due to uncertainties, he can only maximize what he expects utility to be, since he does not know what it will actually turn out to be. Thus risk enters the analysis.

The relationship between the investor's utility and his investments, can be specified as

$$E(U) = f{E(r), risk} = f{E(r), \sigma},$$
 (5.1)

where

E(r) is the expected rate of return, and

 σ , the standard deviation, is the measure of risk.

We define risk as the variability of expected returns from investments in the different securities. A more formal analysis of risk will focus on the probability distributions of rates of return.

We define the expected value of the probability distribution or the mean of returns as

 $E(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{k} p_{k} r_{k}$ (5.2)

where

 r_k is the kth outcome, and

 p_k is the probability of that outcome or return, and $k = 1, \ldots, n = all$ possible outcomes or rates of returns.

The variance of returns measures the dispersion of the probability distribution and is defined as:

$$\sigma_{k}^{2} = \sum_{k} p_{k} \{r_{k} - E(r)\}^{2}.$$
 (5.3)

The standard deviation, which will be used as the measure of risk is defined as:

$$\sigma_{k} = \sqrt{\sigma_{k}^{2}} = \sqrt{\sum_{k=1}^{n} p_{k} [(r_{k} - E(r))]^{2}} = \sqrt{E\{r - E(r)\}^{2}}.$$
 (5.4)

Standard deviation is the measure of risk that will be adopted in this study as the index of unpredictability or risk to measure the spread or dispersion of the probability distribution.

Its principal advantages are technical (Tobin, 1965, p. 17): a) If the central tendency of the probability distribution is described by the mathematical expectation, the standard deviation is, for reasons of probability theory, the natural measure of dispersion. b) The standard deviation of the return of a compound portfolio can be easily derived from the standard deviations, and correlations, of the returns on the constituent portfolios.

It was stated above that, in general, a portfolio will be less risky the lower the correlation of its constituent assets' rates of return. We define correlation as:

$$\rho_{ij} = \frac{\operatorname{cov}(\mathbf{r}_{i},\mathbf{r}_{j})}{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}} = \frac{\sigma_{ij}}{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}} = \frac{E\{(\mathbf{r}_{i}-E(\mathbf{r}_{i}))(\mathbf{r}_{j}-E(\mathbf{r}_{j}))\}}{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}}$$
(5.5)
$$= \frac{\Sigma P_{t}\{(\mathbf{r}_{i}-E(\mathbf{r}_{i}))(\mathbf{r}_{j}-E(\mathbf{r}_{j}))\}}{\sigma_{i}\sigma_{j}}$$

One can now proceed to construct a diversified efficient portfolio, with a knowledge of the correlation coefficients between the various assets' rates of return, i.e., after ascertaining if the assets are independent or share similar risks and thus will act as complements or substitutes in the portfolio.

A correlation coefficient can vary between $-1 \le \rho \le +1$. An extreme ρ_{ij} of +1 indicates perfect positive correlation between the two assets' rates of return, and means that the two move in the same direction, by the same proportion at the same time. An ρ_{ij} of -1 indicates perfect negative correlation and the two securities' rates of return vary inversely.

Having determined the rates of return, the expected future rates and the risks associated with these expected rates, one can solve for the optimum proportion of each asset to be held in the portfolio.

Let w_i be the proportion of the ith security in the portfolio. A necessary constraint for a meaningful analysis

of the portfolio problem is

$$\sum_{i}^{n} w_{i} = 1$$

This means that the fractions invested in the different securities sum to one, and that all funds allocated for portfolio selection are accounted for.

If r_p represents actual return from a portfolio and $E(r_p)$ its expected return, $E(r_p)$ may be defined thus:

$$E(r_p) = \Sigma w_i E(r_i) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{i=1}^{j} \sum_{j=1}^{j} \sum_{j$$

where

$$E(r_i) = \sum_{j=1}^{J} p_{ij}r_{ij}; r_{ij} = jth outcome on the ith assetj=1 and J is the number of possibleoutcomes.$$

This says that the expected return on a portfolio is the weighted average of the expected returns from the assets contained in the portfolio.

In general, the variance or variability of return of a portfolio can now be written as:

$$\sigma_{r_p}^2 = Var(r_p) = E\{r_p - E(r_p)\}^2$$
 (5.7)

For a two-security portfolio, the variance expression can be derived and expressed in the following way.

$$\sigma_{r_{p}}^{2} = \operatorname{Var}(r_{p}) = E\{r_{p}-E(r_{p}\}\}^{2}$$

$$= E[w_{1}r_{1} + w_{2}r_{2} - E(w_{1}r_{1}+w_{2}r_{2})]^{2}$$

$$= E[w_{1}r_{1} + w_{2}r_{2} - w_{1}E(r_{1}) - w_{2}E(r_{2})]^{2}$$

$$= E[w_{1}\{r_{1}-E(r_{1})\} + w_{2}\{r_{2} - E(r_{2})\}]^{2}$$

$$= E[w_{1}^{2}\{r_{1}-E(r_{1})\}^{2} + w_{2}^{2}\{r_{2}-E(r_{2})\}^{2}$$

$$+ 2w_{1}w_{2}\{r_{1}-E(r_{1})\}\{r_{2}-E(r_{2})\}$$

$$= w_{1}^{2}E\{r_{1}-E(r_{1})\}^{2} + w_{2}^{2}E\{r_{2}-E(r_{2})\}^{2}$$

$$+ 2w_{1}w_{2}E\{(r_{1}-E(r_{1})(r_{2}-E(r_{2}))\}$$

$$= w_{1}^{2}\operatorname{Var}(r_{1}) + w_{2}^{2}\operatorname{Var}(r_{2}) + 2w_{1}w_{2}\operatorname{cov}(r_{1}r_{2})$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{i}w_{j}\sigma_{ij}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} w_{i}w_{j}\sigma_{ij}$$
in matrix notation.

This expression says that the variance of a weighted sum is the sum of the weighted variances plus the covariance terms for all possible pairs of securities in the portfolio.

There are n expected returns for the n securities; n variances for the n expected returns, and $(n^2-n)/2$ covariances

between all possible pairs of expected returns.

The utility function of the companies can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{U} = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{p}}), \sigma)$$

where

 $E(r_p) = Expected return from the portfolio and$

 σ = risk associated with the portfolio.

The function is assumed positive with respect to returns and negative with respect to risk. The objective of the companies is to maximize the utility function subject to

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i = 1$$

which says that all of the investible funds are just accounted for or that the weights of the various assets in the portfolio sum to one. There are seven assets generally listed in the portfolios of life insurance companies (Life Insurance Fact Book, 1974): mortgages, corporate bonds, U.S. government bonds, state and local government bonds, stocks, real estate and foreign government bonds. The problem can be set up as a Lagrangian objective function:¹

¹Proof that the second order conditions exist to ensure a maximum is omitted here.

$$Z = U\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i E(r_i), \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i w_i \sigma_i \} + \lambda(\Sigma w_i - 1)$$
(5.8)

To get the first order conditions for an extremum, the partial derivatives of the function with respect to the seven assets and the constraint are set equal to zero.

$$\frac{\partial z}{\partial w_{1}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{1})} E(r_{1}) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [2w_{1}\sigma_{11} + 2w_{2}\sigma_{12} + 2w_{3}\sigma_{13} + 2w_{4}\sigma_{14} + 2w_{5}\sigma_{15} + 2w_{6}\sigma_{16} + 2w_{7}\sigma_{17}] + \lambda = 0$$
(5.9)

$$\frac{\partial z}{\partial w_{2}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{2})} E(r_{2}) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [^{2w}2^{\sigma}22^{+2}w_{1}\sigma_{12}^{+2w}3^{\sigma}23^{+2w}4^{\sigma}24 + 2^{2w}5^{\sigma}25^{+2}w_{6}\sigma_{26}^{+2w}7^{\sigma}27^{-1}] + \lambda = 0$$
(5.10)

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial w_{3}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{3})} E(r_{3}) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [^{2}w_{3}\sigma_{33} + ^{2}w_{1}\sigma_{13} + ^{2}w_{2}\sigma_{23} + ^{2}w_{4}\sigma_{34} + ^{2}w_{5}\sigma_{35} + ^{2}w_{6}\sigma_{36} + ^{2}w_{7}\sigma_{37}] + \lambda = 0$$
(5.11)

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial w_4} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_4)} E(r_4) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [2w_4\sigma_{44} + 2w_1\sigma_{14} + 2w_2\sigma_{24} + 2w_3\sigma_{34}]$$

$$+2w_5^{\sigma}_{45}+2w_4^{\sigma}_{46}+2w_7^{\sigma}_{47} + \lambda = 0$$
 (5.12)

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{Z}}{\partial \mathbf{w}_{5}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{U}}{\partial \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}_{5})} \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}_{5}) + \frac{\partial \mathbf{U}}{\partial \mathbf{Var}} [2\mathbf{w}_{5}\sigma_{55} + 2\mathbf{w}_{1}\sigma_{15} + 2\mathbf{w}_{2}\sigma_{25} + 2\mathbf{w}_{3}\sigma_{35} + 2\mathbf{w}_{4}\sigma_{45} + 2\mathbf{w}_{6}\sigma_{56} + 2\mathbf{w}_{7}\sigma_{57}] + \lambda = 0$$
(5.13)

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial w_{6}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{7})} E(r_{7}) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [2w_{6}\sigma_{66} + 2w_{1}\sigma_{16} + 2w_{2}\sigma_{26} + 2w_{3}\sigma_{36} + 2w_{4}\sigma_{46} + 2w_{5}\sigma_{56} + 2w_{7}\sigma_{67}] + = 0$$
(5.14)

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial w_7} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_7)} E(r_7) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [^{2}w_7 \sigma_7 7^{+2}w_1 \sigma_{17}^{+2}w_2 \sigma_{27}^{+2}w_3 \sigma_{37}^{-2}w_4 \sigma_{47}^{+2}w_5 \sigma_{57}^{+2}w_6 \sigma_{67}^{-2}] + = 0$$
(5.15)

$$\frac{\partial z}{\partial \lambda} = w_1 - w_2 - w_3 - w_4 - w_5 - w_6 - w_7 - 1 = 0$$
 (5.16)

On the assumption that the investors take the risk associated with each asset as given, it can be considered a constant and the system of n+1 equations can be expressed as a Jacobian matrix. In setting up the matrix, the current yields also are assumed to be good proxies of the expected yields, and therefore are treated as constants in trying to find the weights of the various assets that would give an efficient portfolio:

	^{2σ} 11	2 σ ₁₂	^{2σ} 13	²⁰ 14	^{2σ} 15	^{2σ} 16	^{2σ} 17	1	wı		$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_1)} E(r_1)$
	^{2σ} 21	^{2σ} 22	²⁰ 23	^{2σ} 24	^{2σ} 25	^{2σ} 26	² σ27	1	^w 2		$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_2)} E(r_2)$
	^{2σ} 31	² ″32	^{2σ} 33	² ″34	² σ35	² σ36	² σ ₃₇	1	w ₃		$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_3)} E(r_3)$
	² ₀₄₁	² ₀ 42	² ⁰ 43	2 ₀ 44	² 045	² 046	² ₀₄₇	1	w4		$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_4)} E(r_4)$
<u>əu</u> əvar	^{2σ} 51	² σ52	^{2σ} 53	^{2σ} 54	^{2σ} 55	² 056	² 57	1	^w 5	=	$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_5)} E(r_5)$
	^{2σ} 61	^{2σ} 62	^{2σ} 63	^{2σ} 64	^{2σ} 65	^{2σ} 66	^{2σ} 67	1	^w 6		<u><u>}</u>))))))))))</u>
	2σ ₇₁	^{2σ} 72	^{2σ} 73	^{2σ} 74	^{2σ} 75	^{2σ} 76	^{2σ} 77	1	w ₇		[∂] U [∂] E(r ₇) ^{E(r} 7)
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	λ		1
										I	(5.17)

The solution of the system will give the n+1 variables in the weight vector in terms of the expected rates of return on the assets. Let the coefficient matrix be C, the weight vector w, and the vector of expected returns E. The system now becomes Cw = E, from which we can get:

$$C^{-1}Cw = C^{-1}E$$
$$w = C^{-1}E$$

The solution for the weights will be of the general form: $w_i = C_i + k_i \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_i)} E(r_i)$, where C_i and k_i are some constants.

Using Cramer's rule, the general form of the solution for the weight of each asset also may be obtained by replacing the appropriate column in the coefficient matrix by the vector of constants and dividing the resulting matrix by the determinant of the original matrix of coefficients. For instance, the weight of security 1 in the portfolio can be found as follows:

$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_1)} E(r_1)$	² ⁰ 12	² 013	² 014	² ″15	² σ _. 16	² ⁰ 17	1	
$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_2)} E(r_2)$	^{2σ} 22	^{2σ} 23	² ³ 24	² σ25	² σ26	² σ27	1	
$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_3)} E(r_3)$	^{2σ} 32	^{2σ} 33	² 034	² σ35	²⁰ 36	² σ37	1	
$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_4)} E(r_4)$	² ₀ 42	² 043	² 0 44	² σ45	2 ₀ 46	² ⁴⁷	1	
<u><u></u> 0</u> E(r5)E(r5)	² σ 52	² σ 53	² σ 54	² σ 55	² σ 56	² σ 57	1	
$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_6)} E(r_6)$	^{2σ} 62	^{2σ} 63	² ₆₄	²⁰ 65	²⁰ 66	² σ67	1	
$\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_7)} E(r_7)$	²⁰ 72	^{2σ} 73	² ₀₇₄	² σ75	² 076	² σ77	1	
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	$\frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} = w_1$
2 ₀₁₁	² 012	^{2σ} 13	^{2σ} 14			^{2σ} 17	1	
^{2 σ} 21	^{2σ} 22	^{2σ} 23	^{2 σ} 24	^{2 0} 25	^{2σ} 26	^{2σ} 27	1	
²⁰ 31	^{2σ} 32	^{2σ} 33	^{2σ} 34	2σ ₃₅	^{2 σ} 36	²⁰ 37	1	
² ₀ 41	^{2 σ} 42	² ³ 43	^{2σ} 44	² ⁰ 45	² σ46	2°47	1	(5.18)
^{2σ} 51	^{2σ} 52	^{2 σ.} 53	^{2 σ} 54	²⁰ 55	²⁰ 56	^{2σ} 57	1	
² σ ₆₁	² ⁰ 62	² σ63	² σ64	² σ65	² σ66	² σ67	1	
^{2σ} 71	^{2 σ} 72	^{2σ} 73	^{2σ} 74	^{2 σ} 75	²⁰ 76	^{2σ} 77	1	
1	1	1	l	1	1	1	0	

The weights of the other securities can be found in a similar way. The solutions exist provided the original coefficient matrix is nonsingular.

We have now devised a way that would permit us to determine monetary policy impact, if any, on the portfolio composition of life insurance companies. Securities in the portfolio are related to each other either as complements or substitutes. Given these relationships, if we can isolate periods of tighter and easier monetary policy, we can test the hypothesis that changes in the rates of return of the securities during these periods will induce portfolio adjustments resulting in different weights for the securities such as to maintain an efficient portfolio with the maximum return subject to risk considerations.

Before proceeding with the analysis, it should be pointed out that transactions costs and illiquidities would affect the willingness of the companies to revise their portfolios.

Asset exchange costs, illiquidities and irreversibilities impart some inertia and stability to portfolio choices, keeping the planned period for holding any portfolio from being infinitesimally short. Shifts involve some cost in time, effort and money and thus any new portfolio must promise enough advantage in return over the old to compensate for these costs (Tobin, 1965).

Tobin argues that innumerable portfolio sequences are

available to the investment manager as new information is gathered and expectations about rates of returns are modified. Each sequence specifies the quantities of all the assets to be held on every date. Each sequence implies different transactions costs. At one extreme are portfolio sequences involving no shifts and no exchange costs. At the other extreme are sequences involving daily or hourly shifts in response to small or temporary differences in asset prospects.

The impact of shifting costs on portfolio sequence choices, argued Tobin, depends on, among other things, the relation of the costs to a) the number of portfolio shifts, b) the number of assets involved in a shift, and (c) the total value of transactions (Tobin, 1965).

Costs of type (a) encourage infrequent but thorough portfolio revisions. Costs of type (b) are an incentive to minimize the number of assets involved in any portfolio shift and to concentrate on particular occasions the dealings in any one asset. To save costs of type (c), the investor will seek to keep the total value of transactions down; but in the absence of the other two relationships, he would not care whether shifts were frequent and small or infrequent and large.

How would these considerations affect the portfolio

revisions of life insurance companies?

The obligations of life insurance companies are longterm in nature. Thus, one would expect that except for purposes of maintaining some desired liquidity position, the assets in a typical life insurance company portfolio would be long-term and not short-term. This makes frequent portfolio adjustments infeasible. Huge shifts from one security into another could involve large losses when one tries to dispose of long-term securities in advance of their maturity dates.

However, the argument remains that shifts will be made and the portfolio adjusted, when such a move is deemed profitable.

A two-security portfolio is now analyzed to see how changes in the rates and expected rates of return will affect the weights of the various securities in the portfolio.

Let the first of the two securities be U.S. government securities (g), and the second be all other securities combined (o).

U.S. governments are chosen because the Fed has a direct control over them with respect to volume outstanding and yields, more so than any other security.

For this portfolio, the objective function to be maximized is:

$$z = U\{\sum_{i=1}^{2} w_{i}E(r_{i}), \sum_{i=1}^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{2} w_{i}w_{j}\sigma_{ij}\} + \lambda(\Sigma w_{i}-1)$$
(5.19)
= $U\{w_{i}E(r_{1})+w_{2}E(r_{2}), w_{g}^{2}\sigma_{gg} + w_{o}^{2}\sigma_{oo} + w_{g}w_{o}\sigma_{go}\}$

+ $\lambda (w_1 + w_2 - 1)$

where

$$w_g$$
 = weight of government securities
 w_o = weight of all other securities
 $E(r_g)$ = expected return on governments with variance
 σ_{gg}
 $E(r_o)$ = expected return on others combined with variance
 σ_{OO}

The constraint is the same as before: $\Sigma w_i - 1 = 0$. The partial derivatives of the function with respect to the weights and constraint are set equal to zero:

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial w_{g}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{g})} E(r_{g}) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [2w_{g}\sigma_{gg} + 2w_{o}\sigma_{go}] + \lambda = 0 \quad (5.20)$$

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial w_{o}} = \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{o})} E(r_{o}) + \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} [2w_{o}\sigma_{oo} + 2w_{g}\sigma_{go}] + \lambda = 0 \quad (5.21)$$

$$\frac{\partial Z}{\partial \lambda} = w_1 + w_2 - 1 = 0 \tag{5.22}$$

As before, the equations can be expressed as a Jacobian matrix:

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 2\sigma_{gg} & 2\sigma_{go} & 1 \\ 2\sigma_{go} & 2\sigma_{oo} & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} w_{g} \\ w_{o} \\ \lambda \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{g})} E(r_{g}) \\ \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{o})} E(r_{o}) \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.23)

The two weights can be solved for using Cramer's rule.

1 . ---

$$\begin{vmatrix} \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{g})} E(r_{g}) & 2\sigma g_{0} & 1 \\ \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{0})} E(r_{0}) & 2\sigma_{00} & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} = w_{g} \\ 2\sigma_{gg} & 2\sigma_{g0} & 1 \\ 2\sigma_{g0} & 2\sigma_{00} & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var} = w_{g} \\ \end{vmatrix}$$
(5.24)

Expanding the top and bottom matrices by their third columns using the formula $|C_{ij}| = (-1)^{i+j} |M_{ij}|$;

$$w_{g} = \frac{\frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{o})} E(r_{o}) - 2\sigma_{oo} - \frac{\partial U}{\partial E(r_{g})} E(r_{g}) + 2\sigma_{go}}{4\sigma_{go} - 2\sigma_{oo} - 2\sigma_{gg}} \cdot \frac{\partial U}{\partial Var}$$

(5.25)

The weight of all other securities combined, w_0 , can be solved for similarly, or, since $w_q + w_0 = 1$,

$$w_0 = 1 - w_g$$
. (5.26)

Having found these weights, the task now is to determine what, if anything, happens to them when the Fed moves, as an example, from a relatively tight money policy to a relatively easy money policy. A formal definition of tightness and ease will be given later.

A change in monetary policy would be expected to change the rate of return on U.S. government securities. This change would, in return, alter the weights of the two securities in the portfolio assuming the yields of the other securities stay the same and the risk associated with holding government securities does not increase with an increase in their returns.

Suppose r_g increased as a result of a change in monetary policy. Then, the weight of government securities would be expected to increase and the weight of the other securities, w_o , would be expected to decline.

This relationship can be expressed more formally by taking partial derivatives of the weights from the two-security portfolio with respect to changes in the rate of return on government securities. A specific answer will not be provided here, but can be obtained through a simulated experiment with actual numbers plugged into the equation or through a

sign analysis. The general solution above for the weights provides the framework for the empirical section, which is the next chapter.

CHAPTER VI. DERIVATION OF THE ASSET DEMAND EQUATIONS

In Chapter V, it was shown how life insurance companies could go about the process of selecting an efficient portfolio and what proportion of total portfolio each asset would constitute. Although transactions costs and their impacts were discussed in Chapter V, it was assumed implicitly that transactions costs were zero. In the derivation in the present chapter of the form of the demand equations that will be estimated, it will be assumed that life insurance companies either hold or strive for efficient portfolios. However, transactions costs are explicitly taken into account, thus necessitating the use of a stock adjustment model.

The form of the asset demand equations that will be tested empirically in this study will be similar to Silber's, discussed in Chapter II but with modifications.

The liabilities of life insurance companies are of a long-term nature and the amount of disbursements to meet these liabilities are highly predictable. As a result, most investments by life insurance companies are long-term. Based on this premise, frequent portfolio adjustments in terms of already committed funds would seem unlikely under most normal circumstances.

Of major interest in this study is determining how the

companies allocate their net inflow of funds (premium income and income from matured investments) to the various assets in their portfolio.

Specifically, the form of the estimated demand equations can be derived as follows:

$$(S_{i}/A)_{t}^{*} = a_{0} + a_{i}\{r_{it}\} + a_{i+1}A$$
(6.1)

Equation 6.1 expresses the desired level of the ith asset, S_i , (as a proportion or ratio of total assets at time t), as a function of a vector of the relevant yields $\{r_{it}\}$ and the total volume of assets A.

By arguing that the current value of the ith asset in the portfolio depends on its current desired value and past desired values, where past desired values are assumed to incorporate the values of the explanatory variables, we can write:

$$(S_{i}/A)_{t} = \lambda \sum_{i=0}^{n} (1-\lambda)^{i} (S_{i}/A)_{t-1}^{*} = \lambda (S_{i}/A)_{t}^{*}$$
$$+ \lambda \sum_{i=1}^{n} (1-\lambda)^{i} (S_{i}/A)_{t-1}^{*}$$
(6.2a)

where

0<λ<1.

Equation 6.2a argues that current values of the ith asset in the portfolio are obtained by partially adjusting the level of that asset in each period in an attempt to attain a desired level of that asset in the portfolio. Equation 6.2a can be expanded to get:

$$(S_{i}/A)_{t} = \lambda \{ (S_{i}/A)_{t}^{*} + (1-\lambda) (S_{i}/A)_{t-1}^{*} + (1-\lambda)^{2} (S_{i}/A)_{t-2}^{*} + \dots + (1-\lambda)^{n} (S_{i}/A)_{t-n}^{*} \} (6.2b)$$

By applying Koyck transformation (Koyck, 1954), both sides of 6.2b are lagged one period and multiplied by $(1-\lambda)$ to get:

+
$$(1-\lambda)^{n+1} (S_{1/A})_{t-n+1}^{*}$$
 (6.3)

Subtracting Equation (6.3) from (6.2b) yields:

$$(S_{i}/A)_{t} - (1-\lambda)(S_{i}/A)_{t-1} = \lambda(S_{i}/A)_{t}^{*}$$
 (6.4)

where the last term in Equation (6.3) is considered close enough to zero that it can be ignored.

Manipulation of Equation (6.4) yields:

$$(S_{i}/A)_{t} - (S_{i}/A)_{t-1} + \lambda (S_{i}/A)_{t-1} = \lambda (S_{i}/A)_{t}^{*}$$
 (6.5)

Substituting $\Delta(S_i/A)_t$ for $(S_i/A)_t - (S_i/A)_{t-1}$ and transferring $\lambda(S_i/A)_{t-1}$ to the right, we get:

$$\Delta(S_{i}/A)_{t} = \lambda(S_{i}/A)_{t}^{*-\lambda}(S_{i}/A)_{t-1}$$
(6.6)

We can substitute Equation (6.1) for $(S_i/A) *$ in Equation 6.6 to get

$$\Delta(\mathbf{S}_{i}/\mathbf{A})_{t} = \lambda \mathbf{a}_{0} + \lambda \{\mathbf{a}_{1}\dot{\mathbf{r}}_{it}\} + \lambda \mathbf{a}_{i+1}\mathbf{A} - \lambda (\mathbf{S}_{i}/\mathbf{A})_{t-1}$$
(6.7)

Equation 6.7 is the equation that will be estimated. It is consistent with the argument that it is not the total level of each asset at time t that is relevant to the portfolio manager, since part of that portfolio already is invested. The manager is more concerned with allocating net increases in reserves than with juggling or rearranging the portfolio. The task then is to try and isolate those factors that determine how much of the net change in total assets is allocated to each asset in the portfolio.

Using ordinary least squares estimation, the value of λ will be the coefficient on the lagged dependent variable. Once λ is obtained, the other coefficients can be recovered by dividing through by the value of λ .

The usual classical assumptions about the disturbance or error term in ordinary least squares regressions are

assumed to hold:

 $\epsilon \sim N(0, \sigma^2); E(\epsilon_i \epsilon_j) = 0, (i \neq j)$

If the Durbin-Watson statistic (Durbin and Watson, 1950, 1951) indicates that the residuals of an equation are autocorrelated, the autoregressive equation of the residuals will be estimated to get the coefficient $\hat{\rho}$. This coefficient will then be used to transform all the variables in the original equation. The equation will be reestimated using the transformed variables. For example, if we assume that the disturbance U_t follows a first-order autoregressive scheme, U_t = $\rho U_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t$ will be estimated; $|\rho| < 1$ and ε_t satisfies the assumptions:

$$E(\varepsilon_{+}) = 0 \tag{6.9a}$$

$$E(\varepsilon_{t}\varepsilon_{t+s}) = \sigma^{2} \quad s=0$$

$$= 0 \quad s\neq 0$$
(6.9b)
(6.9c)

The original equation will then be reestimated in the following form to remove the autocorrelation:

$$(S_{i}/A)_{t} - \rho(S_{i}/A)_{t-1} = a_{o}(1-\rho) + a_{i}(r_{it}-\rho r_{it-1}) + \varepsilon_{t}$$

(6.10)

Interest rates will be entered in the equations either as levels or as differentials. That is, instead of using the level of each interest rate as an explanatory variable,

the difference between the yield on the asset whose demand is being estimated and each of the other yields will be used. For example, if we estimate the demand for X_1 with the rates r_1 , r_2 and r_3 , expressing it with the rates as differentials, we get

$$X_1 = \alpha_1 (r_2 - r_1) + \alpha_2 (r_3 - r_1)$$

Interest rate levels tend to move together which may result in serious multicollinearity problems. So, the specification of the interest rate variables as differentials rather than levels might prove statistically helpful in terms of alleviating the multicollinearity problem, which could mask statistically significant regression coefficients.

Also, interest rate differentials seem more pertinent than absolute levels to the portfolio manager in his decision on the flow of investment funds in a given period. The absolute levels might be of prime concern if the decision were a question of how much cash to hold versus how much securities to purchase.

The use of differentials also implies that if some factor were added to each rate, the distribution of funds among the various securities would be unaffected. The use of differentials, however, imposes a restriction on the sign of the own rate of return. For example, if we estimate $(S_i/A)_+ =$ $a_{1}(r_{j}-r_{i}) + a_{2}(r_{k}-r_{i})$: where r_{j} is the rate on the jth security; r_{k} is the rate on the kth security, and r_{i} is the own rate for S_{i} , the sign of $r_{i} = -(a_{1})$ plus $-(a_{2})$ or the negative of the sum of the coefficients attached to r_{j} and r_{k} respectively. Due to this restriction on the sign of the own rate, the interest rate variables also will be specified as levels in some cases.

It should be pointed out that expected future rates were not built in specifically as arguments in the equations. However, the presence of a lagged dependent variable as an explanatory variable, incorporates a particular weighted average of past rates and all other explanatory variables that may have been left out. The lagged dependent variable is the usual proxy for expected rates (De Leeuw, 1965). Also, it was argued earlier that current yields are good proxies for expected future rates.

In this study, only the demand for the major assets in the portfolio of life insurance companies will be estimated. There are some assets that are a very small proportion of total assets or that have changed very little over the sample period. The demand for this group of assets, which includes real estate holdings, foreign government bonds and "other assets", will not be estimated.

Since the estimation technique that will be used in this

study is single-equation, ordinary least squares, it does not matter much to the results that will be obtained that these items will be left out. However, even in a simultaneous equation approach, the problems of not estimating the demand for this group of assets could be solved by simply imposing a balance sheet identity on the portfolio of the companies. Given n assets in the portfolio, and the size of the portfolio, only n-1 of those assets can be functionally independent. The group of assets considered as residuals can then be determined by the balance sheet identity. This procedure, while not necessary for single equation estimation, is implicit in the approach.

CHAPTER VII. ESTIMATION OF THE DEMAND EQUATIONS, HYPOTHESES TESTING AND RESULTS

The estimated demand equations cover the period of January 1963 through March 1974, i.e., 1963-I through 1974-I.

Most of the data used were obtained from the Federal Reserve Bulletin, which provides a comprehensive set of tables on the flow of funds through the economy. The data on the assets of life insurance companies were reported as seasonally unadjusted monthly series. Quarterly averages, created from the monthly series, are used in this study.

Interest rates are expressed in percentages, that is, an interest rate of 5 per cent is written as 5.0. The following is a brief description of the yield rates that were used:

- Government Bond rate: the rate on long-term government bonds
- Treasury Bill rate: the rate on three-month treasury bills
- Corporate Bond rate: the yield on long-term corporate bonds prepared by Moody's investor service on Baa corporate bonds
- Earnings/Price: a measure of the returns from common stocks
- Mortgage rate: the yield on conventional first mortgages
- State-Local government bond rate: the yield on 15 highgrade municipals (Standard and Poor's averages)
- GNP Deflator: obtained from the Survey of Current Business

The performance of the estimated equations will be evaluated by looking at the signs of the coefficients to see if they support the a priori specification of either a substitute or complementary relationship among securities. The postulation of substitutability or complementarity between any two securities will be based on the discussion in Chapter III of the risk attributes of the various securities. The sign of the own rate of interest is expected to be positive -- directly so, when interest rates are entered as levels and implicitly so when they are entered as differentials. The overall reasonableness of the estimated demand equations will be determined, in addition, by looking at the correlation coefficients and the standard errors of the estimates.

To test whether two securities are complements, substitutes or independent, assume that the demand for security X_1 is estimated with the interest rate term $b_1(r_2-r_1)$. If b_1 , the coefficient, has a positive sign, and is significant at the 5 per cent level on a one-tailed t test, security X_2 , whose rate is r_2 , and security X_1 , whose demand is estimated, will be considered complements. If b_1 , on the other hand, has a negative sign and is significant, then X_2 and X_1 , will be considered substitutes. If, however, the ratio of the coefficient to its standard error (t-value) were smaller than about .5, this would be considered an indication that the

two securities are independent in the portfolio regardless of the sign of the coefficient. This means that if the t-value of a coefficient is not significant at the 5 per cent level and, in addition, is less than .5 in absolute value, this will be considered an indication that the demand for one is unaffected by changes in the yield for the other. The calculated t-value of .5 is an arbitrary cutoff and there is nothing theoretically magic about it.

In addition to testing the substitutability and complementarity of the securities, the individual demand equations will be checked against each other for consistency.¹ For example, one would expect a symmetrical relationship between any two equations. If the equation for security A, for example, implies that securities A and B are substitutes, then the equation for security B, also would be expected to give the same relationship between A and B.

The estimated equations are presented below using the following notations:

A = total assets

 $\Delta A = A_{+} - A_{+-1} = change in level of assets$

C = corporate bonds

¹For a discussion of consistency checks, see Brainard and Tobin, 1968, pp. 99-122).

S = state-local government bonds Μ = mortgages ĸ = stocks = interest rate on U.S. government bonds ra r_{tb} = interest rate on three-month treasury bills = interest rate on state-local government bonds r rm = mortgage yield = interest rate on corporate bonds r E/P = earnings-price ratio on common stocks $\Delta P/P$ = rate of change in the GNP deflator D_i = seasonal dummy variables i=1,2,3

Each variable takes on a value of 1 for the quarter represented by its subscript and is zero elsewhere. The dummy variables are included to account for any independent seasonal patterns that may exist in the demand for securities.

The Hypotheses that will be Tested

- 1. Equity Capital and all bonds are complements in the portfolio.
- 2. Mortgages and U.S. government bonds are complements.
- 3. Mortgages and corporate bonds are substitutes.
- 4. Mortgages and state and local government bonds are substitutes.

57

= U.S. government bonds

G

- 5. U.S. government bonds and state and local government bonds are substitutes in the portfolio.
- 6. Corporate bonds and U.S. government bonds are substitutes.
- 7. Corporate bonds and state and local government bonds are substitutes.

The Demand for Mortgage Holdings

The demand for mortgage holdings by life insurance companies was estimated with the following models:

$$\Delta \left(\frac{M}{A}\right) = \alpha_0 - \alpha_1 (r_c - r_m) + \alpha_2 (r_g - r_m) - \alpha_3 (\frac{M}{A})_{t-1} + \alpha_4 D_1 + \alpha_5 D_2 + \alpha_6 D_3$$
(7.1)

$$\Delta(\frac{M}{A}) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 r_m - \alpha_2 r_c + \alpha_3 r_g - \alpha_4 (\frac{M}{A})_{t-1} + \alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$$
(7.2)

$$\Delta M = \alpha_0 - \alpha_1 (r_c - r_m) + \alpha_2 (r_g - r_m) + \alpha_3 A - \alpha_4 M_{t-1} + \alpha_5 D_1$$

$$+ \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$$
 (7.3)

$$\Delta M = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 r_m - \alpha_2 r_c + \alpha_3 r_g + \alpha_4 A - \alpha_5 M_{t-1} + \alpha_6 D_1 + \alpha_7 D_2 + \alpha_8 D_3$$
(7.4)

The results are presented in Tables la and lb.

Equation 7	.1:	Coeff	icient of			
Dependent variable	Constant	r _c -r _m	rrm	(M/A) t-1	Dl	D ₂
<u>∆(m/a)</u>	.00984 (1.0974) ^C	00384 (-5.7549)	.00186 (1.6819)	02503 (-1.1438)	00019 (5269)	00047 (-1.3650)
Equation 7	.2:	Coeff	icient of			
Dependent variable	Constant	rm	rc	rg	(M/A) t-1	D
$\Delta(\frac{M}{A})$	00128 (1264)	.00284 (2.2325)	÷.00504 (-5.6899)	.00346 (2.5533)	0129 (6101)	00016 (4655)
Equation 7	.3:	Coeff	icient of			
Dependent variable	Constant	r _c -r _m	rg-rm	A	Mt-1	Dl
ΔM	318.1106 - (.4044)	•626.3427 (-4.1492)	361.0157 (1.8181)	.008 (1.5857	00986 (4686)	-200.1155 (-3.1154)
Equation 7	.4:	Coeff	icient of			
Dependent variable	Constant	rm	rc	rg	A	M _{t-1}
Δм	255.8689 (.3153)	308.8265 (1.4438	-641.8792 (-4.0870)	472.3372 (2.0558)	.007989 (1.5219)	0212 (8722

Table la. Regression coefficients and goodness of fit statistics for Equations 7.1 through 7.4

 $\frac{a-2}{R}$ is the adjusted coefficient of multiple determination.

^bd is the Durbin-Watson statistic.

^CThe t-values of the coefficients are reported in parentheses directly below each coefficient.

D ₃	$\frac{1}{R^2}$	b d	ρ	F	SE	
.00057 (1.6414)	.45	2.1249	.4617	5.9408	.000002	2441
Dl	D ₃	$\frac{1}{R}^2$	d	ρ̂	F	SE
00041 (-1.2085)	.00061 (1.7900)	.51	2.1844	.4338	6.4548	.0000023
D ₂	D ₃	$\frac{1}{R^2}$	đ	ô	F	SE
-81.5129 (-1.3127)	166.1811 (2.6613)	.85	2.1756	.2972	31.514	68445
^D 1	D ₂	^D 3	\overline{R}^2	đ	ρ f	SE
198.1636 (-3.1080)	-81.4302 (-1.3224)	166.4774 (2.6884)		2.2115 .	3263 26.(038 68793

۰ ج

.

Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	r _c -r _m	r _g -r _m (M/A) t-1	Dl	^D 2	D ₃		
7.1	Δ (M/A)	. 3929	1535	.0742	0250	0079	0188	0.0228		
Equation	Dependent Variable	Constant	rm	r _c	rg	(M/A) t-1	^D 1	^D 2	^D 3	
7.2	∆(M/A)	0992	.2199	3908	.2686	0129	0127	0317	.0473	
Equation	Dependent Variable	Constant	r_rm	r-r g m	A	M _{t-1}	Dl	^D 2	^D 3	
7.3	ΔΜ	32265.45	-63528.95	36617.2	4 .8109	0099	-20297.4	-8267.72	16855.49	
Equation	Dependent Variable	Constant	r m	rc	3	g	A M		^D 2	^D 3
7.4	ΔΜ	12061.99	14558.49	-30259	.04 222	266.6 .3	7660212	2 -9341.7	-3838.73	7847.96

^aThe only difference between Tables 1a and 1b is that in 1b, the values of the coefficients presented in Table 1a have been disentangled. Each coefficient in Table 1a is divided by λ , the value of the lagged dependent variable.

The demand for mortgages (Equation 7.1) suggests that mortgages and corporate bonds are substitutes in the portfolios of life insurance companies. The coefficient of $(r_c - r_m)$ has a negative sign and is significantly different from zero at the 5 per cent level using a one-tailed t test. This is as was hypothesized. The estimated equation also suggests that U.S. government bonds and mortgages are complements in the portfolio as was hypothesized. The coefficient for $(r_{\alpha}-r_{m})$ is positive and significantly different from zero also at the 5 per cent level. It was pointed out earlier that mortgages are highly illiquid. It would appear, based on the results, that to compensate for the illiquidity resulting from an increase in the holdings of mortgages, the companies tend to increase their demand for highly liquid U.S. government bonds. U.S. government bonds have a highly well-organized secondary market and can be sold any time with very little difficulty to meet cash needs should the companies be strapped for liquidity.

The implicit own rate for mortgages has a positive sign (+.00384 - .00186 = +.00198), which is what we would expect.

The speed of adjustment implied by the coefficient of the lagged dependent explanatory variable is that only about 3 per cent of the deficiency between desired and

actual holdings is made up after one quarter. This implies a very long lag in adjustment.

When the interest rate variables were entered as levels instead of differentials (Equation 7.2), the results were roughly similar with those of Equation 7.1. These results suggest a strong substitute relationship between mortgages and corporate bonds and a strong complementary relationship between mortgages and government bonds. The speed of adjustment implied by 7.2 was even slower. Less than 2 per cent of the discrepancy between actual and desired holdings is made up in one quarter.

When the mortgage demand was estimated as a level and not as a proportion of total assets (Equation 7.3), the same significant relationships existed between mortgages and corporate bonds and mortgages and U.S. government bonds. The implicit own rate is also positive as in 7.1. In Equation 7.4, all variables -- dependent and independent -- were entered as levels. Results here are similar to those in the preceding three equations. The speed of adjustment again is very slow with only 2 per cent of any deficiency corrected in the first quarter.

All four equations tend to support the hypothesized relationships between mortgages and the other major assets in the portfolios of life insurance companies. However, the explanatory power of Equations 7.3 and 7.4, as measured

by \mathbb{R}^2 , the adjusted coefficient of multiple determination, were higher than those of Equations 7.1 and 7.2. Total assets were entered as a variable in 7.3 and 7.4. The t-values of its coefficients in both equations were almost significant at the 5 per cent level. This is as expected, because over the years mortgages have constituted a major proportion of the total portfolio.

Life insurance companies' mortgage holdings increased by \$4.4 billion during 1973 to a total of \$81.4 billion or 32.2 per cent of total assets at the end of that year (Life Insurance Fact Book, 1974). The asset level, however, was not included in the final forms of Equations 7.1 and 7.2. It was tried, but perhaps, because these two equations were expressed as a proportion of total assets, the result was insignificant.

The Demand for Corporate Bonds

The following models were fitted for the demand for corporate bonds:

$$\Delta C = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 r_c - \alpha_2 r_g - \alpha_3 r_m - \alpha_4 \frac{\dot{P}}{P} + \alpha_5 A - \alpha_6 C_{t-1} + \alpha_7 D_1 + \alpha_8 D_2 + \alpha_9 D_3$$
(7.5)

$$\Delta(C/A) = \alpha_0 - \alpha_1 (r_g - r_c) - \alpha_2 (r_m - r_c) - \alpha_3 \frac{\dot{P}}{P} + \alpha_4 A$$
$$- \alpha_5 (C/A)_{t-1} + \alpha_6 D_1 + \alpha_7 D_2 + \alpha_8 D_3 \qquad (7.6)$$

$$\Delta C = \alpha_0 - \alpha_1 (r_g - r_c) - \alpha_2 (r_m - r_c) - \alpha_3 \frac{\dot{P}}{P} + \alpha_4 A$$

$$- \alpha_5 C_{t-1} + \alpha_6 D_1 + \alpha_7 D_2 + \alpha_8 D_3$$
 (7.7)

The results are presented in Tables 2a and 2b.

The relationships between corporate bonds and the other securities implied by the estimated corporate bond demand equations presented above are inconclusive.

In Equation 7.5, the own rate of return is positive but insignificant. The coefficient for government bonds is negative, suggesting a substitute relationship between corporate bonds and U.S. government bonds. However, it is insignificantly different from zero and, thus, does not support the hypothesis of substitution between the two.

The coefficient for mortgage rates is negative and significantly different from zero at the 10 per cent level but not at the 5 per cent level. However, to the extent that the sign is negative and the t test nearly significant at the 5 per cent level, it is consistent with the result of the mortgage demand equation. Thus, the symmetry condition holds. Both the mortgage and corporate bond demand equations

	Equation	s /.5 thr				
Equation	<u>7.5</u> :		Coef:	ficient of		
Dependent variable	Constant	r _c	ŗg	r	P P	A
Δc	589.49 (.8461)	7.331 (.0347)	-156.846 (6129)	-301.334 (-1.2802)	-245.3055 (-1.6168)	.621 (2.0411)
Equation	7.6:		Coef	ficient of		
Dependent variable		r _g -r	r -r	<u><u>P</u> <u>P</u></u>	A	(C/A) t-1
Δ (C/A)	.0351 (1.1557)	.00094 (.8399)			000000041 (2.3317)	1100 (-1.3713)
Raustion	77.		Coef	ficient of		
Equation Dependent variable		rg ^{-r} c	r_r	<u>Þ</u> P	A	C _{t-1}
	-643.4377	469.7475		-358.354		3013
	(8988)	(1.8950)	(.3674)	(-2.5167) (3.1193) (-2.7427)

Table 2a. Regression coefficients and goodness of fit statistics for Equations 7.5 through 7.7

 $^a The value of <math display="inline">\hat{\rho}$ is given only for the equations whose variables were transformed.

.

c _{t-1}	Dl	D ₂	D ₃	$\frac{1}{R}^2$	đ	Ŷ	SE
1174 (-1.3871)	-65.1531 (8266)	88.2533 (1.1612)	-130.4283 (-1.6180)	.70	1.7947	_a	81682
D ₁	D ₂	D ₃	\overline{R}^2	, đ	ĝ		SE
.0005 (1.4160)	0005 (-1.3199)	0009 (-2.3464)	.29	1.8814	.295	2	.000002
D ₁	D ₂	D ₃	_2 R	đ	ĝ		SE
-41.003	118.9456	-89.5712	.84	1.77	. 379	7	92473
(-5,487)	(1.6775)	(-1.1997))				

,

Table 2b.	Disentang	led va	lues of	the	coefficients	of:

Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	rc	rg	r _m	₽/P	A	C _{t-1}	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃
7.5	Δc	5021.2	62.5	-1336.5	-2657.7	-2090.3	. 5291	1174	-555.2	752.0	-1111.4
Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	rg-r	rm-rc	P/P	A	c _{t-1}	Dl	^D 2	D ₃	
7.6	Δ(C/A)	.3186	.0085	.0052	0133	•0000004	1101	.0045	.0041	0077	
Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	rg ^{-r} c	rm ^{-r} c	₽/₽	A	C _{t-1}	D ₁	^D 2	D ₃	
7.7	ΔC	-2135.5	1559.1	314.4	-1189.3	.4086	3013	-136.1	394.8	-297.3	

suggest that the two assets are substitutes in the portfolios of life insurance companies.

The rate of inflation variable, P/P, is significant at the 10 per cent level and is negative. This is as expected. The rationale is that since life insurance companies can hedge against inflation by buying stocks, for instance, they will do so in the face of rising price levels. They will get out of, or at least not commit as much of their funds to such assets as bonds, which are susceptible to a loss in purchasing power at maturity due to inflation. Under such circumstances, more funds would be channelled into stocks under the presumption that rising price levels in general will mean rising business incomes and profits and thus rising value of stocks.

When the corporate demand equation was estimated as a porportion of total assets with interest rate variables entered as levels and not as differentials, only one explanatory variable, the lagged dependent variable, was significant. Many of the signs were incorrect. A reestimation of the same equation using rate differentials produced a result that is only slightly better (Equation 7.6).

The implicit own rate in 7.6 is negative. The coefficient of $r_m - r_c$ is positive, contrary to the hypothesis and the result from the mortgage demand equation which

suggests that mortgages and corporate bonds are substitutes. However, the t test on the coefficient is insignificant, indicating that corporate bonds and mortgages may be independent. This is an unlikely result, considering that corporate bonds and mortgages are the two biggest components of life insurance companies' portfolios.

The inflation variable was stronger in 7.6 than in 7.5. It was significant at the 5 per cent level in 7.6 and at the 10 per cent level in 7.5 and had a negative sign in both, suggesting, as hypothesized, that the companies would move away from bonds when the general price level in the economy is rising.

Equation 7.6 also implies that U.S. government bonds and corporate bonds are complements. The sign on the coefficient of r_g-r_c is positive. However, the t test is insignificant at both the 5 and the 10 per cent level. This result is contrary to the finding in 7.5, which suggests that the two are substitutes.

Both Equations 7.5 and 7.6 imply very long lags or slow speeds of adjustment. Both equations indicate that only 11 per cent of the deficiency is made up within the first quarter. Overall, the explanatory power of 7.6 is rather low.

When equation 7.5 was reestimated with interest rates in differential form rather than levels, 7.7, the result

was slightly better than 7.6, but not as good as 7.5. The implicit own rate in 7.7 is wrong, just as in 7.6 However, the t tests on the coefficients of 7.7 are more definitive than those of 7.6. The t score on the coefficient of r_g-r_c is significant at the 5 per cent level indicating a complementary relation between corporate bonds and government bonds. The coefficient of r_m-r_c is positive, but the t test is highly insignificant implying that mortgages and corporate bonds are independent -- again an unlikely event.

The inflation variable P/P was strongest in 7.7. The speed of adjustment implied by 7.7 is that 30 per cent of the deficiency between actual and desired levels of corporate bonds is corrected within one quarter. This is considerably faster than in the first two equations.

In all three equations, the asset level was correctly signed and significantly different from zero at the 5 per cent level on a one-tailed t test. This is not surprising. Over the sample period, corporate bonds averaged about 36 per cent of the total portfolio. At the end of 1973, they constituted 36.4 per cent of all assets.

Overall, the estimated demand equations for corporate bonds gave inconsistent and unsatisfactory results.

The Demand for Stocks

The following models were fitted for the demand for common stocks by life insurance companies:

$$\Delta (K/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 (r_g - E/P) - \alpha_2 (r_m - E/P) + \alpha_3 \Delta A$$

- $\alpha_4 (K/A)_{t-1} + \alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$ (7.8)

$$\Delta(K/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 E/P - \alpha_2 r_m + \alpha_3 r_g + \alpha_4 \Delta A$$

- $\alpha_5(K/A)_{t-1} + \alpha_6 D_1 + \alpha_7 D_2 + \alpha_8 D_3$ (7.9)

$$\Delta K = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 (r_g - E/P) - \alpha_2 (r_m - E/P) + \alpha_3 \Delta A$$

$$- \alpha_4 K_{t-1} + \alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3 \qquad (7.10)$$

$$\Delta K = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 E/P - \alpha_2 r_m + \alpha_3 r_g + \alpha_4 \Delta A$$

+
$$\alpha_5 K_{t_1}$$
 + $\alpha_6 D_1$ + $\alpha_7 D_2$ + $\alpha_8 D_3$ (7.11)

The results are presented below in Tables 3a and 3b.

Table 3a.	Regression coefficients and goodness of fit statistics
	for Equations 7.8 through 7.11

Equation	<u>/</u> .					-		
Dependent	Constant	r _g -E/P	r - E/P	Coeff:	icient (K/A	1	D	
variable	0011201110	<u>g_''</u>	<u>m</u>			<u>'t-1</u>]	L
Δ (K/A)	.0023	.0024	0010	.000003	3 –.	0823	.00	092
	(.8668) (2.0168)	(9046)	(6.886	66) (-4	1.9045)	(1.83	368)
Equation	<u>7.9</u> :				• • •	. 6		
				Coeff	icient			
Dependent variable	Constant	E/P	r m	rg	Δa	(K/A) t	:-1	D1
Δ (K/A)				.0026	.00000			.0009
Δ(Κ/Α)	.0014 (.3816)(-							-
Equation	(.3816)(-			1.9826)(6.156	69) (-3. (-
Equation	(.3816)(- <u>7.10</u> :	-3.0440) (9200) (1.9826 Coeff)(6.156	69) (-3.6	51119)(1.8397)
•	(.3816)(- <u>7.10</u> :		9200) (1.9826 Coeff)(6.156	69) (-3. (51119	-
Equation Dependent	(.3816)(- <u>7.10</u> :	-3.0440)(9200) (1.9826 Coeff P)(6.156	69) (-3.6	51119)(1.8397)
Equation Dependent Variable	(.3816)(- 7.10: Constant	(-3.0440)	9200)(r _m -E/	1.9826 Coeff P /)(6.156 icient AA .7447	05) (-3.6 0f Kt-1 0496	51119) I 5 21:) (1.8397) D ₁ 3.2363
Equation Dependent Variable	(.3816) (- 7.10: Constant -108.27 (-0.1927)	(-3.0440)	9200) (r _m -E/ 6 -256.2	1.9826 Coeff P 717 22) (8)(6.156 icient AA .7447 .6424)	of K _{t-1} 0496 (-4.383	51119) I 5 21:) (1.8397) D ₁ 3.2363
Equation Dependent variable ΔK	(.3816) (- 7.10: Constant -108.27 (-0.1927)	(-3.0440)	9200) (r _m -E/ 6 -256.2	1.9826 Coeff P 717 22) (8)(6.156 icient AA .7447 .6424) icient	of K _{t-1} 0496 (-4.383	51119) I 5 21:) (1.8397) D ₁ 3.2363
Equation Dependent variable ΔK	(.3816)(- 7.10: Constant -108.27 (-0.1927) 7.11:	(-3.0440)	9200) (r _m -E/ 6 -256.2	1.9826 Coeff P / 717 22) (8 Coeff)(6.156 icient AA .7447 .6424)	of K _{t-1} 0496 (-4.383	51119) I 5 21:) (1.8397) D ₁ 3.2363
Equation Dependent variable ΔK Equation Dependent variable	(.3816) (- 7.10: Constant -108.27 (-0.1927) 7.11: Constant	-3.0440) (r -E/P g 530.846 (2.1588	9200) (r _m -E/ 6 -256.2) (-1.10 r _m	1.9826 Coeff P / 717 22) (8 Coeff)(6.156 icient AA .7447 .6424) icient	of Kt-1 0496 (-4.383 of	51119 1 5 21: 39) (3) (1.8397) D ₁ 3.2363 2.1020)

^aThe variables in this table were not transformed.

^D 2	D ₃	\overline{R}^2	đ	F	ρ	SE
00026 (5742)	00076 (-1.6400)	.67	2.2466	13.46	_a	.000003
D ₂	D ₃	R 2	đ	F	ô	SE
0003 (5792)	0008 (-1.6106)	.66	2.2530	11.499	_a	.000003
D ₂	D ₃	$\frac{1}{R}^2$	đ	F	ĝ	SE
-36.8121 (4004)	-165.550 (-1.7632)	2.76	2.2337	20.288	_ ^a	123150
Dl	D ₂	D ₃	R ² d	F		ρ̂ se
216.9016 (2.0971)	-38.257 -1	64.601 1.73)	.75 2.2	405 17.2	2670	- ^a 12633

.

Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	rE/P g	r_E/P	Δa	(K/A) t-	1 ^D 1	^D 2	D ₃	
7.8	Δ(K/A)	.0279	• 0295	0126	.00004	0823	.0112	0032	009	3
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	E/P	r	rg	Δα	(K/A) t-1	D ₁	^D 2	D ₃
7.9	∆(K/A)	.0159	0148	0122	.0293	.00003	088	.0107	003	0086
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	rE/P	rE/P	ΔΑ	K _{t-1}	D ₁	D2	D ₃	
7.10	Δκ	-2191.5	10694.3	-5162.	8 15.0	0496	4295.8	-741.6	-3335	.1
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	E/P	r _m	rg	Δa	^K t-1	D ₁	^D 2	D ₃
7.11	Δκ	-5745.2	-4785.3	-4895.	2 10406	5.7 14.	20535	4053.2 .	-714.9 ·	-3075.8

i

All the estimated demand equations for stocks presented imply that stocks and government bonds are complements in the portfolio while stocks and mortgages are substitutes. The significance levels vary, however, in each equation. In all the equations estimated, the sign on the coefficient of the own rate is negative. Earnings-price ratio was used as the proxy of the return from stocks.

In all the equations, the t test on the coefficient of r_g was positive and significantly different from zero at the 5 per cent level indicating that stocks and U.S. governments are complements. This could be for reasons of liquidity. The results imply that stocks are bought not for speculative purposes but as long-term investment. The purchase of government bonds is thus increased with any increase in the purchase of stocks to compensate for the loss in liquidity.

All the equations suggest that mortgages and stocks are substitutes although none of the t tests is significant. However, the t scores are big enough that one would be reluctant to conclude that stocks and mortgages are independent assets in the portfolio.

Equations 7.8 and 7.9 imply a speed of adjustment of about 8 per cent while 7.10 and 7.11 indicate yet slower adjustment of only about 5 per cent of any discrepancy between desired and actual levels being corrected within

one quarter.

The level of total assets was tried but was insignificant. However, when it was entered as a flow, change in assets (ΔA), it was significantly different from zero in all the estimated equations. This is not surprising. Stocks make up a small portion of total assets, but during the period covered by this study, they more than doubled as a per cent of the portfolio. In 1963, stocks made up 5 per cent of total assets and continued to grow to a high of 11.2 per cent of the portfolio in 1972 before declining to 10.3 per cent in 1973 (Life Insurance Fact Book, 1974, p. 68).

The major fault of the estimated equations is the negative sign of the own rate of return. This, however, may be attributable to the fact that legal restrictions on investments in stock by life insurance companies are quite specific. They vary from state to state, but in general limit the proportion of the portfolio that may be held in stocks and usually also the type of stocks that may be held.

Stocks have not been heavily used as a major investment medium for funds backing life insurance policies because of the contractual guarantees for specified dollar amounts in these policies.

It just may be that regardless of the yield from holding stocks, that life insurance companies held the maximum

amount allowed them by law for purposes of diversification and as a hedge against inflation.

The following models were used to estimate the demand for U.S. government bonds:

$$\Delta(G/A) = \alpha_0 - \alpha_1 (r_c - r_g) + \alpha_2 (r_m - r_g) + \alpha_3 \Delta A - \alpha_4 (G/A)_{t-1} + \alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$$
(7.12)

$$\Delta(G/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 (r_m - r_g) - \alpha_2 (E/P - r_g) + \alpha_3 \Delta A - \alpha_4 (G/A)_{t-1}$$

$$+ \alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$$
 (7.13)

$$\Delta(G/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 r_g - \alpha_2 E/P + \alpha_3 \Delta A - \alpha_4 (G/A)_{t=1} + \alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$$
(7.14)

$$\Delta (G/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 r_g - \alpha_2 \frac{\dot{P}}{P} + \alpha_3 \Delta A - \alpha_4 (G/A)_{t-1} + \alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$$
(7.15)

The results are presented in Tables 4a and 4b below:

.

Table 4a. Regression coefficients and goodness of fit statistics for equations 7.12 through 7.15

Equation	7.12:					
			Coeff:	icient of		
Dependent variable	Constant	r_rg	r _m -rg	ΔΑ	(G/A) _{t-1}	D ₁
Δ (G/A)	.0015 (1.1160)			00000023 (-1.6979)		

Equation 7.13:

			Coeffic	ient of		
Dependent <u>variable</u>	Constant	rm-rg	E/P-r g	Δa	(G/A) t-1	D ₁
∆(F/A)	.0016 (.0338)			00000022 (-1.6094)		

Equation 7.14:

۰.

Equation	/.14:		Coeff	icient of		
Dependent variable	Constant	rg	E/P	ΔΑ	(G/A) t-1	Dl
$\Delta(G/A)$.0012 (.0276)	.0002 (.6905)	0002 (-1.1429)	0000002) (-1.4465)	0448 (-1.4766)	0006 (-3.6758)
Equation	7.15:		Coeff	icient of		
Dependent variable	Constant	rg	P/P	۵ A	(G/A) t-1	D ₁
$\Delta G/A)$.0004	.0002	0002	0000002	0459	0006

(.1568) (.6891) (-.7748) (-1.1826) (-1.4842) (-3.7227)

^aThe variables in this table were not transformed.

^D 2	^D 3	$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^2$	đ	F	ĝ	SE
.0002 (1.1177)	.0001 (.6726)	. 38	2.2913	4.7723	_a	.0000004
		2 R	đ	F	ô	SE
^D 2	D ₃	K	u	E	P	
0002 (1.2336)	.00008 (.5011)	• 38	2.3886	4.8233	_a	.0000004
		\overline{R}^2			•	
^D 2	^D 3	R	đ	F	Â	SE
.0002 (1.2309)	.00008 (.4717)	.38	2.4031	4.8071	_a	.0000004
D ₂	D ₃	$\overline{\mathbf{R}}^2$	đ	F	ĝ	SE
.0002 (1.1919)	.0001 (.7604)	. 37	2.3312	4.6189	_a	.0000004

Table 4b.	Disentangled	values o	of the	coefficients of:	

.

-

Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	rc ^{-r} g	r -r m g	ΔΑ	(G/A) t-	1 ^D 1	D	2 ^D 3
7.12	$\Delta G/A)$.0379	.0078	0092	000005	0395	0172	.004	.0028
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	r _m -r _g	E/P-r _g	Δα	(G/A) _{t-}	1 ^D 1	D ₂	D ₃
7.13	$\overline{\Delta}(G/A)$.0335	0020	003	30000	040477	0013	.0041	.0017
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	rg	E/P	Δa	(G/A) _{t-1}	D ₁	^D 2	D ₃
7.14	LG/A)	.0267	.0038	0035	000002	0448	0138	.0044	.0017
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	rg	₽́/₽	Δα	(G/A) _{t-1}	D	^D 2	D ₃
7.15	$\overline{\Delta(G/A)}$.0087	.0038	0045 -	000003	0459	0139	.0042	.0028

-

The estimated equations for the demand for government bonds did not establish consistent significant relationships. The explanatory power of the presented equations is low.

Equation 7.12 implies that government bonds and corporate bonds are complements, although the t test on the coefficient is not significant, but is large enough to discount independence of the two assets in the portfolio. This tends to support the result obtained in the estimated demand equations for corporate bonds.

The t test on the coefficient of $(r_m - r_g)$ is insignificant but has a negative sign suggesting the two assets -mortgages and U.S. government bonds may be substitutes in the portfolio. This is contrary to the hypotheses and the significant complementary relationships found between the two in the equations for mortgages.

In 7.13, the coefficient of $(r_m - r_g)$ also is negative but this time is highly insignificant, suggesting independence rather than the substitute relationship implied by 7.12.

The mortgage rate was not included in Equations 7.14 and 7.15.

The signs of the own rate of interest were correct in all the equations except in 7.13. However, the coefficients of r_g in 7.14 and in 7.15, where the rates were entered as levels, were insignificant.

Equations 7.13 and 7.14 imply that government bonds and stocks may be substitutes. The signs of the coefficients of $(E/P-r_g)$ and E/P in 7.13 and 7.14 are negative. However, the t tests on these coefficients are close to but not quite significant at the 10 per cent level. If they had been significant, one could surmise that life insurance companies do hedge against inflation by buying stocks and shunning government bonds when prices in the economy are rising since stock yields generally move in phase with rising prices.

The inflation variable P/P was tried in Equation 7.15. Its sign is negative as expected, but the t test is insignificant.

Total assets were entered in all equations as a flow (change in assets). Its sign in all the equations is negative. In 7.12, the t test is significantly different from zero at the 5 per cent level. In Equations 7.13 and 7.14, significance is at the 10 per cent level. In 7.15, the test is close to but not significant at the 10 per cent level.

The negative sign of ΔA implies that for the period estimated, government bonds were an inferior asset. Life insurance companies decumulated their holdings of U.S. government bonds over this period.

The speed of adjustment implied by the four equations is that only 4 to 5 per cent of any discrepancy between actual and desired levels is corrected within one quarter.

One possible explanation of the poor performance of the estimated equations is that government bonds may have been held in the portfolio more for liquidity and risk hedging than for yields. They make up a very small fraction of the total portfolio. At year end 1973, they amounted to \$4.3 billion or less than 2 per cent of the total portfolio. Its size in the portfolio has decreased steeply since the end of World War II. In periods such as the two World Wars and the depression years of the 1930s, life insurance funds were heavily channelled into United States government securities. At other times, investments are ordinarily directed more into the private sector (Life Insurance Fact Book, 1974, pp. 74-75). At the end of 1945, for example, U.S. governments made up an extraordinary 45 per cent of the total portfolio. The continuous decumulation since then suggests that perhaps their primary function today is for portfolio balance. In other words, funds are taken out of U.S. governments and used to make up deficiencies in other assets in the portfolio as needed or alternatively, temporarily idle funds are put into U.S. government bonds instead of being held as idle money balances and are then liquidated as needed.

Ξ.

The Demand for State-Local Government Bonds

The following equations were fitted for the demand by life insurance companies for state-local government bonds:

$$\Delta(S/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 r_s + \alpha_2 \Delta A - \alpha_3 (S/A)_{+-1}$$
(7.16)

$$\Delta(S/A) = \alpha_0^{-\alpha_1} (r_m^{-r_s}) - \alpha_2 (r_g^{-r_s}) - \alpha_3 (r_c^{-r_s}) + \alpha_4 \Delta A - \alpha_5 (S/A)_{t-1}$$
(7.17)

The results are presented in Tables 5a and 5b below:

Equación	7.16:	Coeffic	ients of	·							
Dependent variable	Constant	rs	ΔΑ	(S/A) t-1	$\frac{-2}{R}$	d F		ρ	SE		
<u>∆(s/a)</u>	.00046 (.5043)		00000007 (-1.3805)	0497 (-2.1425)		0570 11.	506 .	5025 .	0000000	5	
Equation	<u>7.17</u> :	Coeffic	ients of								
Equation Dependent variable		<u>Coeffic</u> r_~rs	rg ^{-r} s	r _c -r _s	Δ Α	(S/A) _{t-1}	$\frac{-2}{R}$	đ	F	ρ	SE

•

Table 5a. Regression coefficients and goodness of fit statistics for Equations 7.16 and 7.17

Table 5b.	Disentan	gled value	s of the	<u>e coeffici</u>	ents of:		
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	rs	ΔΑ	(S/A) t-1	1	
7.16	Δ(S/A)	.0107	.0012	000001	0465	_	
Equation:	Dependent variable	Constant	r_r m s	rg-rs	r _c -rs	Δa	(S/A) _{t-1}
7.17	Δ(S/A)	.0159	0058	.0123	.0080	000002	0376

State and local government bonds are a very small fraction of the total portfolio of life insurance companies. They accounted for just over 1 per cent of the portfolio in 1973. All through the study period, the quantity of state and local government bonds in the portfolio was fairly stable, averaging \$3.4 billion and ranging from \$3.14 billion to \$3.85 billion, and for all practical purposes could be considered constant during the study period.

Only two of the attempts to estimate the demand for state and local government bonds were presented.

In Equation 7.16, the own rate is the only interest rate variable. It has the correct sign but is insignificant. The change in asset, ΔA , has a negative coefficient and the t test on the coefficient is significant at the 10 per cent level, indicating that as a proportion of total assets, state and local government bonds have been declining.

Equation 7.17, implies that mortgages and state-local government bonds are substitutes. However, the t test on the coefficient of $(r_m - r_s)$ is not quite significant at the 10 per cent level. The equation implies U.S. government bonds and state and local government bonds are complements -- an unlikely result since the two classes of securities share very similar risks. The equation also implies complementarity between corporate securities and state and local government

bonds. It is difficult to explain why this would be so. Again, both classes of securities are subject to the same sorts of risks especially if one believes that life insurance companies deal mostly in high grade corporate securities where default risk is minimal.

The speed of adjustment implied by both equations is that about 5 per cent of any adjustment is completed within one quarter.

The poor performance of the estimated equations is not surprising given that state and local government bonds made up a very small fraction of the portfolio and was nearly constant over the sample period.

One would suspect, in light of the insignificance of state and local government bonds in the portfolio, that in the short run the prime motivation for holding them may not be profit maximization so much as trying to project the image of a good corporate citizen by providing funds for local school and city projects. In the long run, such "benevolence" might prove profitable in helping them attract new funds.

The estimated equations are reexamined below in terms of the interest-elasticity of the demand for the various assets. The mean elasticities are presented here. They differ from the usual definition of elasticity in that the means of the dependent and independent variables, and not their levels, are used in the calculations.

$$\eta(\mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}_{i}) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{y}}{\partial \mathbf{x}_{i}} \cdot \frac{\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{i}}{\overline{\mathbf{y}}} = \hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}_{i} \frac{\overline{\mathbf{x}}_{i}}{\overline{\mathbf{y}}}$$

The results are to be interpreted in the usual manner, that is, a per cent change in the independent variable causes an η per cent change in the dependent variable.

The elasticities presented in the tables below are longrun elasticities, calculated from the disentangled values of the equations. They are presented here merely to amplify the results discussed above from the estimated equations.

Table 6. The	mean (elasticity	of Δ(M/A	.)	
With respect	to:				
r _m	=	-14.3868			
rc	=	42.2643			
rg	=	-28.0683			
rr_m	=	-3.6997			
rg-rm	=	10.0270			

. .

With	respect to:	
	E/P	= -5.5227
	r _m .	= -5.7695
	rg	= 9.5231
	r _g -E/P	= -1.2916
	r _m -E/P	= -1.1901

Table 8. The mean elasticity of $\Delta(C/A)$

Table 7. The mean elasticity of $\Delta(K/A)$

With	respect to:	
	rg-rc	= 4.3739
	r _m -r _c	= -1.2566
	₽/₽	= 4.1612
	r _c	= 0.0534
	rg	= -0.8723
	r _m	= -2.4365

Table 9. The mean elasticity of $\Delta(S/A)$

With respect to:		
r _m -r _s	= 1.6927	
rg ^{-r} s	= -0.4678	
r _c -r _s	= -1.3832	
rs	= -0.8453	

With respect to):	
rm-rg	= 0.3580	
E/P-rg	= 0.1849	
r _g	= -1.3890	
E/P	= 1.4745	
₽/₽	= 0.3154	
rc ^{-r} g	= -0.7805	

The results should be read as follows: The mean longrun elasticity of the change in the demand for mortgages Δ (M/A) with respect to a one percentage change in the mortgage yield, r_m , is 14.4 per cent.

The results show the demand for mortgages as being highly sensitive to the interest rate variables both as levels and differentials, but less so when the rates were entered as differentials. The same results hold for stocks.

The demand for corporate bonds, however, is inelastic with respect to the rate on government bonds, r_g , and its own rate, r_c , when entered as levels, but show some sensitivity when these rates were entered with other rates in differential form. This is not surprising. The elasticities simply reflect the results of the estimated demand equations. The t tests on the coefficients of r_g and r_c , as levels, were

91

Table 10. The mean elasticity of $\Delta(G/A)$

insignificant.

The elasticities of the demand for U.S. government bonds and state and local government bonds with respect to the interest rates on the various securities lends credence to the already discussed result that these two assets may be held for reasons other than short-run profitability. According to Tables 9 and 10, the demand for these two assets were, in the main, interest-inelastic. Where they showed any sensitivity to interest rates, the change was just over 1 per cent.

These results on interest elasticities of the demand for the various assets parallel those presented earlier and are merely a different way of presenting and looking at the same thing.

Policy Loans

Policy loans are life insurance company loans to their policyholders against the cash values of those policies. These loans are not determined by life insurance company portfolio decisions, but by the desires of policyholders to borrow against the accrued cash value of their policies.

The interest rate charged on policy loan is a fixed contractual rate. The rate remained at 5 per cent during most of the period covered by this study. It changed to 6 per cent in January 1972. For the purposes of this study,

however, it will be assumed that the 5 per cent rate was the actual rate all through the study period. It is doubtful that those whose policies were issued at 6 per cent since January 1972 would have built up enough cash value against which to borrow.

The low contractual rate at which policyholders could borrow from their life companies would make these loans very attractive during high interest rate periods. Individuals who borrow against the cash value of their policies do not have to repay these loans or the interest. However, the amount of the policyholder's protection is reduced by the loan and delinquent interest payment outstanding.

Although policy loans outstanding are not determined by the life companies, changes in these loans are important since an increase in the amount outstanding decreases the amount the companies will have available for other higheryielding investments. The loans represent financial disintermediation peculiar to life companies. Companies are forced to maintain enough cash or other highly liquid assets to meet the demand for these loans. If the companies underestimate demand for the loans, this could mean having to liquidate some other assets to generate the cash needed to meet the loan demand.

The form of the equation that will be used to explain the behavior of policy loans will be the same as those

specified for the portfolio assets.

The hypotheses being tested are that the stock of policy loans will vary directly with (a) the level of interest rates, (b) the level of unemployment and (c) the cash surrender value (CSV) of policies in force.

The cash surrender value of policies in force establishes a ceiling on the maximum volume of policy loans that could be made by life companies in any period. Outstanding policy loans may be expected to rise as this ceiling rises.

Empirically, cash surrender value will be proxied by the difference between total assets and outstanding stock of policy loans at the beginning of each quarter. A better proxy, perhaps, would be the level of reserves less outstanding policy loans, where reserves are total assets less net worth of the companies. However, the data could not be obtained.

The yield on three-month treasury bills (r_{tb}) and the yield on long-term government bonds (r_g) will be used to represent interest rate levels.

The behavior of policy loans is estimated for the period from first quarter 1963 through the third quarter 1974 (1963-I to 1974-III) using the following additional notations:

∆ (PL/A)	:	change in policy loans as a proportion of total assets
rtb	:	yield on three-month treasury bills
rg	:	yield on long-term government bonds
U	:	unemployment rate
CSV	:	cash surrender value of policies in force.

The Demand for Policy Loans

The following models were used to estimate the behavior of policy loans outstanding:

$$\Delta(P_{L}/A) = \alpha_{0} + \alpha_{1}r_{tb} - \alpha_{2}(P_{L}/A) + \alpha_{3}U_{t-1} + \alpha_{4}D_{1} + \alpha_{5}D_{2} + \alpha_{6}D_{3}$$
(7.18)

$$\Delta (PL/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 r_{g_{t-1}} - \alpha_2 (PL/A)_{t-1} + \alpha_3 U_{t-1} + \alpha_4 D_1$$

+ $\alpha_5 D_2 + \alpha_6 D_3$ (7.19)

$$\Delta (PL) = \alpha_0^{+} \alpha_1^{CSV} t + \alpha_2^{t} t b_t^{-} \alpha_3^{PL} t - 1 + \alpha_4^{U} t - 1 + \alpha_5^{D} b_1^{-} + \alpha_6^{D} b_2^{-} + \alpha_7^{D} b_3^{-}$$
(7.20)

$$\Delta (PL/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 CSV_t + \alpha_2 r_{tb}_{t-1} - \alpha_3 (PL/A)_{t-1} + \alpha_4 U_{t-1}$$

+ $\alpha_5 D_1 + \alpha_6 D_2 + \alpha_7 D_3$ (7.21)

The results are presented in Tables 11a and 11b below.

Table lla.	Regression coefficients and goodness of fit Equations 7.18 through 7.21	statistics f	for

	—		-				
Equation	7.18:	- <u></u>			<u> </u>		······
			Coefficie	ent of			
Dependent variable	Constant	r _{tb_{t-1}}	(PL/A) t-1	U _{t-1}	Dl	^D 2	D ₃
$\Delta(PL/A)$.0004	.0007	0336	0002	.0002	.0003	00014
	(.4218)	(5.7852)	(-2.1721)	(9316)	(2.8699)	(3.2209)	(-1.5925
Equation	7.19:						
			Coefficie	ent of			
Dependent variable	Constant	r _{gt-1}	(PE/A) t-1	U _{t-1}	Dl	^D 2	
$\Lambda(PL/A)$	0006	0969	0969	0003	.0002	.00015	5

						a second and the seco	
Δ (PL/A)	0006	0969	0969	0003	.0002	.00015	
	(5350)	(5.3544)	(-3.5870)	(-1.6391)	(2.0714)	(1.7303)	

Equation 7.20:

Dedarra			Coefficie	ent of		
Dependent variable	t Constant	CSVt	rtbt	PL _{t-1}	^U t-1	D ₁
Δpl	1229.0223 (2.7717)	0113 (-3.1058)			-93.2955 (-2.9675)	

Equation 7.21:

	Coefficient of							
Dependent variable	Constant	CSVt	r _{tb_{t-1}}	(PL/A) t-1	^U t-1	Dl		
$\overline{\Delta(\text{PL/A})}$.0008 (.8667)	00000001 (9662)	-0007 (6.0323)	0060 (1907)	0002 (-1.2560)	.0003 (2.8633)		

\overline{R}^2	đ	F	ô	SE	2	
.73]	.8293	18.109	₅5553	.0000	00012	
D3	$-\frac{\pi^2}{R}$	đ	F	ĝ		SE
00003 (3647)	.68	1.7841	14.57	.624	. 00	000018
		-				
D ₂	D ₃	$-\frac{-2}{R}$	đ	F	ρ	SE
25.3348 (1.4194)	-1.3269		1.9837	75.72	.3107	5891.4
• •	• • • • •					
D ₂	D ₃	$\frac{1}{R}^2$	đ	F	ĝ	SE
.0003	0001	.75	1.8287	18.162	.5012	.000000
(3.1668)	(-1.6227	7)				

Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	r _{tb} t-1	(PL/A) t-l	U _{t-1}	Dl	^D 2	^D 3		
7.18	∆(PL/A)	.0119	.0199	0336	0051	.0073	.0082	0042		
Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	rg _{t-1}	(PL/A) t-1	U. t-1	Dl	^D 2	^D 3		
7.19	$\overline{\Delta(PL/A)}$	0670	.0176	0969	0032	.0018	.0015	0003		
Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	CS	t ^r tb _t	PL	-1 ^U	J _{t-1}	D ₁	^D 2	^D 3
7.20	Δ PL _t	13918.71	231	279 1082.	4764 .0	883 -10)57.119	194.4341	287.0651	-15.0346
Equation	Dependent variable	Constant	CSVt	r _{tb} t-1 (PL/A) _{t-1}	U _{t-1}	Dl	^D 2 ^D	3	
7.21	$\Delta(PL/A)$.1333	00000	سيتراج المتراجع وتشتر وعيالكم فيتراهما	0060	0375	.0420	.04630	245	

Table 11b. Disentangled values of the coefficients of

In the equations presented above, the interest rate variables, both the long-term government and the 90-day treasury bill yields, were statistically significant. In all four equations, they were positive as specified and significantly different from zero at the 1 per cent level using a one-tailed t-test.

CSV was entered in Equations 7.20 and 7.21. Contrary to the hypothesis, its coefficient has negative signs in both equations and is significantly different from zero at the 1 per cent level in 7.20 and insignificant in 7.21. The negative sign could mean that CSV is not a good proxy of the ceiling on the maximum volume of policy loans. The result cannot be easily explained, however, since policy loans showed an almost uninterrupted increase as did assets over the study period. One plausible explanation may be that the growth rate in policy loans exceeded the growth rate in total assets.

Another surprising result is the negative sign of the coefficient of the unemployment variable in all four equations presented. The t-test on the coefficient is significant at the 1 per cent level in 7.20; at the 10 per cent level in 7.19 and quite strong although not significant at the 10 per cent level in 7.21 and 7.18.

One possible explanation of this result could be that an increase in unemployment usually affects unskilled labor first. This group may not have that much cash value built

up against which to borrow. If they did, they might be loath to jeopardize their future security by drawing from their policies. Those that are still employed when unemployment starts rising may see increasing unemployment as a threat to their future security. Instead of drawing down the value of their policies, they may tend to increase it instead while they still are employed and are in the position to do so.

It could very well be that during the periods when unemployment was rising, that interest rate levels were low or declining. If this were the case, it seems plausible that low or declining rates would dominate the level of unemployment as an explanatory variable for the behavior of policy loans. It makes sense to argue that if the general interest take levels decline and approximate the contractual rate on policy lcans, the uncapably of the paper tikely to borrow, if they need to, from class here, dute while the specially if they expect to be out of d^{-1} while logity

As a proporti di de de della della domaincreased from 4.7 per cent (1.55 de la cord) de de la per ce t de 199 million) de 1973.

From a casua observat. The second sec

employment are not all that surprising. Many companies suffered huge drains in the form of policy loans when inflation and high interest rates were all the rage through most of 1974. Toward the end of the year and the beginning of 1975, the increase in policy local slowed as interest rates started doclining even though unemployment was hitting nigher levels each month.

Overall, it would a spear that the major factor determining the stock of olicy loans outstanding is high interest rates. Since life insurance policies are a form of savings, individuals, sophisticated in the financial market, would more than like y draw down the accurace cash values of their policies at a relatively low interest cost when money market rates incre ; relative to the rates on long-term financial securit es. They can invest the loans in fairly liquid debt inst uments yielding a high rate of return. When these instrumer is mature, they gan pay back the loan and interest and lave some income left. Such a behavior, indeed, would be opt hal for individuals steking the highest return for their f ads. Others may simply borrow against their policies d ring nigh interest periods thereas energing and to borrow an anit and a cause form to pay the high d mammin might be individuals highly he buy homes rate. when mo mage funds are scarce and morigage sates are high.

Such persons may borrow or their policies for the down-

Francis Schott (1971), in a similar study, tried to explain variations in policy loans between 1965 and 1970. He used simple and multiple regression to analyze net policy loan increases at 15 leading companies which he said consistently accounted for about 55 per cent of the industry's total assets. He tested the hypotheses that (1) interest rate variations, (2) monetary ease or restraint, (3) credit availability, and (4) rising prices, were the primary factors influencing p

In terms of readle and and and should not star variations were the most into and single influence on poly loans. Rising consumer price are ast int on liquidity growth were less and ficant while ed availability was found incliniticant. Athough most of his interpret variables were a ferent from those used in the second star, the second of interpoly rate variations of a log ingle ins was examples by both his and the present of the

.

CHAPTER VIII. IMPACT OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM MONETARY

POLICY ON LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES' PORTFOLIOS

The issue this chapter seeks to explore is what direct impact, if any, monetary policy has on the portfolios of life insurance companies. That is, does it make any difference in the way life insurance companies manage their portfolios if the Federal Reserve System is pursuing an easy or a tight monetary policy. As the Fed shifts gears from monetary ease to tightness, or vice versa, relative rates on securities This may influence the direction of flow will be affected. of funds by life insurance companies. It can be argued, a priori, that an increase in interest rates resulting from a tight monetary policy would reduce the inflow of funds which the companies would have available for investments. This could come about in at least two ways. One is that rising rates would increase policy loans. The other is that rising rates would reduce the willingness of life companies to augment the inflow of investable funds by liquidating longterm securities due to the high probability that such liquidation could mean capital losses. Also, there are such assets in the portfolio as VA and FHA-guaranteed mortgages with ceiling rates imposed by the government. When rising interest rates increase the spread between the ceiling rate on these government-backed mortgages and other mortgages, life

companies may be expected to commit less of their funds to the lower-yielding VA and FHA mortgages. The risk consideration might be outweighed by the higher yields possible with the nongovernment-backed mortgages.

One problem with the present study is that it would be impossible to get at the issue of whether any relative shifts occur from one group of mortgage holdings to another since all mortgage holdings by life insurance companies are grouped together without classification by subgroups.

Another interesting point, which also would be impossible to get at, is the breakdown between short-term and long-term assets held by the companies during tight and easy money periods. During tight money periods and high interest rates, life companies may be expected to reduce their cash and bank deposits as a result of the higher yields on long-term securities. This effect, however, may be offset by net additions to holdings of short-term securities, which respond positively to the downward shift in the long-short yield differential. An increase in the holdings of shorts also could reflect the companies' concern with the loss of liquidity resulting from the decline in the market value of the major portion of their portfolios, which is mostly long-term.

As was pointed out earlier, the securities in this study are considered homogeneous with respect to maturity

and differ only by issuer. This specification would make it impossible to determine any shifts in the composition of the portfolio between shorts and longs or government-backed and nongovernment-backed securities during periods of easy or tight money.

For the purposes of this study, therefore, it is the contention that any differential effect of easy or tight money on the portfolio composition of life insurance companies will be through a change in the relative yields on competing assets of similar maturity structure.

The hypothesis that will be tested is that monetary policy will not have any effect on portfolio management by life insurance companies. Due to the actuarially predictable nature of their obligations to their policyholders, most of their assets are long-term. It is thus doubtful that life companies would get out of longs into shorts during periods of rising yields. This could involve capital losses. It is equally doubtful that under any circumstance, say easy money periods, they would hold most of their assets in shorts. If they are already holding most of their assets in longterm securities, a switch to shorts simply because of ease in monetary policy would seem out of the question.

The problem is to come up with an acceptable definition and measure of monetary tightness and ease. It is not the purpose of this study to dabble into the issue of monetary

targets, instruments and indicators.¹

A recent study by Havrilesky et al. (1974), has delineated the period covered in the present study into tight and easy money periods, and will be adopted for our immediate purposes.

Havrilesky et al. in their study, estimated the influence of the state of the economy on the policy actions of the Fed in times of announced ease and tightness from July 1962 to October 1973. They used the Federal funds rate as their policy-control variable or instrument. They used a control or policy period of just one month, justified by the fact that the Federal Open Market Committee, the monetary policy arm of the Fed, meets approximately once a month to determine the direction of monetary policy. Using ordinary least squares, they estimated:

 $FF_r = \alpha_0 + \alpha_i (U_{t-1}, P_{t-1}, FX_{t-1}, BCP_{t-1}, M)$ (8.1) where

FF_r = federal funds rate
U = unemployment rate
P = wholesale price index

¹For a discussion of these topics, see Starleaf and Stephenson, 1969; Poole, 1970; and Havrilesky, 1972.

- FX = exchange rate on Deutsche Mark as a barometer of the international position of the dollar
- BCP = bank credit proxy

M = currency + demand deposits.

Based on the Federal Funds rate they cataloged several periods into tight and easy money periods and then estimated the policy reactions of the Fed to the price level, the rate of unemployment, a measure of the country's international economic position and the rates of growth of "key" monetary aggregates. Their classification is as follows:

Tight Money PeriodsEasy Money PeriodsJanuary 1963 to December 1966January 1967 to December 1967January 1968 to June 1968July 1968 to December 1968January 1969 to December 1969January 1970 to June 1971July 1971 to September 1972October 1972 to December 1973January 1974 to September 19741974

Adoption of their classification of tight and easy money periods is not meant to endorse it as a fait accompli. One can seriously question their use of the Federal funds rate

¹Their study period did not include 1974. This period is included as tight based on casual empiricism on the economy during 1974.

"as the single variable among all possible candidates that the Fed is most likely actually to have used as a controlvariable." Arguments can be made for the use instead of banks' free reserves or the growth rate in the money supply or other monetary aggregates. However, as a first "ad hoc" approximation of an answer to the issue of portfolio management by life insurance companies during tight and easy money periods, their classification above will suffice.

Having adopted the classification by Havrilesky et al., a Chow test (Chow, 1960) will be used to determine if portfolios were managed differently in the two subperiods. Statistically, this amounts to testing whether the two subgroups of observations can be regarded as belonging to the same regression model.

The mechanics of the test involves grouping all the data for the tight and easy money periods, respectively, separately. The model is estimated for each of the two subperiods to obtain: the residual sum of squares, (X), for the first subgroup with n observations, n-p degrees of freedom; the residual sum of squares, (Y), for the second subgroup with m observations and m-p degrees of freedom; and the residual sum of squares (Z), for the full model with n+m-p degrees of freedom. P is the number of explanatory variables plus an intercept.

The Chow test performs an analysis of covariance to determine if the two subgroups belong to the same regression model.

The ratio $\frac{(2-Y-X)/P}{(Y+X)/(n+m-2p)} = A$, will be distributed as F(p, n+m-2p) under the null hypothesis that both groups belong to the same regression model or that there is no significant structural change between the two subgroups. The 5 per cent level of significance will be used to evaluate the results. This means that to conclude there was a significant structural change between the two groups of observations or that they don't belong to the same regression model, the calculated F value or the ratio A will have to be at least equal to the tabular F.

The models on which the Chow test was performed are presented below along with the results.

$$\Delta(S/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 (r_s, \Delta A, \{S/A\}_{t-1}): p = 4; (n+m-2p) = 36$$

A = 3.5063; F_{.05}(4, 36) = 5.73 (8.2)

$$\Delta(S/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 [(r_m - r_s), (r_g - r_s), (r_c - r_s), \Delta A, \{S/A\}_{t-1}]$$

$$p = 6; n+m-2p = 32; A = 1.6633;$$

 $F_{.05}(6, 32) = 3.79$ (8.3)

$$\Delta C = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 (r_c, r_g, r_m, \dot{P}/P, A, C_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3)$$

$$p = 10; n+m-2p = 24; A = 2.7171,$$

$$F_{.05}(10, 24) = 2.74 \qquad (8.4)$$

$$\Delta (C/A) = \{ (r_g - r_c), (r_m - r_c), P/P, A, (C/A)_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3 \}$$

$$p = 9, n+m-2p = 26; A = 0.5901;$$

$$F_{.05}(9, 26) = 2.84$$
(8.5)

$$\Delta (G/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{r_g, E/P, \Delta A, (G/A)_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3\}$$

$$p = 8, n+m-2p = 28; A = 1.0049;$$

$$F_{.05}(8, 28) = 3.09 \qquad (8.6)$$

$$\Delta (G/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{r_m - r_g, E/P - r_g, \Delta A, (G/A)_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3\}$$

$$p = 8; n + m - 2p = 28; A = 0.9447;$$

$$F_{.05}(8, 28) = 3.09 \qquad (8.7)$$

$$\Delta (M/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{r_m, r_c, r_g, (m/a)_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3\}$$

$$p = 9, n+m-2p = 26; A = 1.5712;$$

$$F_{.05}(9, 26) = 2.88$$
(8.8)

$$\wedge (M/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{ (r_c - r_m), (r_g - r_m), (M/A)_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3 \}$$

$$p = 8; n + m - 2p = 28, A = 1.5996;$$

$$F_{.05}(8, 28) = 3.09$$

$$(8.9)$$

$$\Delta (K/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{E/P, r_m, r_g, \Delta A, (k/a)_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3\}$$

$$p = 9; n+m-2p = 26; A = 1.2706;$$

$$F_{.05}(9, 26) = 2.88 \qquad (8.10)$$

$$\Delta (K/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_i \{ (r_g - E/P), (r_m - E/P, \Delta A_s, (K/A)_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3 \}$$

$$p = 8; n + m - 2p = 28; A = 1.3087;$$

$$F_{.05}(8, 28) = 3.09 \qquad (8.11)$$

$$\Delta (PL/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{r_{tb_{t-1}}, (PL/A)_{t-1}, U_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3\}$$

$$p = 7; n+m-2p = 32; A = 0.7760;$$

$$F_{.05}(7, 32) = 3.37 \qquad (8.12)$$

.

$$\Delta (PL/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{r_{gt-1}, (PL/A)_{t-1}, U_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3\}$$

$$p = 7; n+m-2p = 32; A = 1.0372;$$

$$F.05(7, 32) = 3.37 \qquad (8.13)$$

·· •

$$\Delta (PL/A) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \{CSV_t, R_{tb}_{t-1}, (PL/A)_{t-1}, U_{t-1}, D_1, D_2, D_3\}$$

$$p = 8; n+m-2p = 30; A = 1.00;$$

$$F_{.05}(8, 30) = 3.08 \qquad (8.14)$$

The results of the Chow test indicates there was no statistically significant change in structural relationships between tight and easy money periods in the management of portfolios by life insurance companies. Even at the 10 per cent level of significance, only Equation 8.4, the demand for corporate bonds, had a statistically significant result suggesting a difference between the two subperiods.

Based on these results, one would have to say that for the period covered in the study it made no difference to life insurance companies whether the Fed was pursuing a tight or easy money policy so far as portfolio management was concerned.

However, before one can conclude definitely that Fed policies, in general, do not affect portfolio management by life insurance companies, one would have to examine the Havrilesky et al. study more critically. Another problem could be the highly aggregative nature of the present study. It may be that the only effect Fed monetary policy has on life company portfolios is through a change in relative rates, which would change the direction and amount of committments

of new funds into the various assets. If life companies invest mostly in long-term securities, then, indeed, the result that there was no significant change in structural relationship between tight and easy money periods would not be questionable. However, even given that they invest mostly in longs, monetary policy could still influence portfolios in certain ways. One would be that the mix between cash and other short-term liquid assets and long-term assets could change. For example, they may hold less cash, less treasury bills and more U.S. government bonds during tight money periods. Another would be that the mix between government-guaranteed and nongovernment-guaranteed mortgages could change during the two periods.

In general, the specification that securities were of similar maturity structure precludes any attempt to even speculate on the effects of expectations about future rates on the direction of flow of funds, when monetary policy changes direction.

Overall, however, based on the present effort, the conclusion is that monetary policy had no direct effect on portfolio management by life insurance companies.

÷

CHAPTER IX. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FURTHER STUDIES

This study sought to depict the major determinants of portfolio management by life insurance companies and in a limited way the impact of monetary policy on the portfolios.

The study was done within the framework of a theory of portfolio selection. Ordinary least squares were used to estimate the demand for the major assets held by life insurance companies.

The results suggest that, at least for the major assets, changes in relative rates of returns were the major factors determining the flow of investment funds.

The estimated equations for the demand of corporate bonds and mortgages, which together make up about 70 per cent of total assets, yielded consistent results. Each equation established the other asset as a substitute in the portfolio. The estimated demand equations for statelocal government bonds and United States government bonds however, had incorrect signs and, in general, were inconsistent. The result was not surprising, however, since the two classes of assets remained fairly constant all through the study period and actually declined as a proportion of total assets.

Overall, the stock adjustment model used to specify the

demand equations appears a reasonable approximation of the demand for securities by life insurance companies. The speeds of adjustment implied by the various equations were very slow, indicating that only a very small fraction of any deficiency between actual and desired holdings of any asset was corrected within one quarter.

The interest-elasticities of the demand for the various assets were fairly high. This result suggests that the capital markets can and do allocate funds into different investment categories in a way that would not result in any major distortion in one specific area of the market. For example, the demand for mortgages was highly sensitive to changes in the yields of bonds. This implies it would take only a slight change in the yield of bonds relative to mortgages to induce a flow of funds into or out of the corporate bond market. If the demand for mortgages, on the other hand, had been ineleastic with respect to the yield on bonds, then it would require a major change in the yield of bonds, relative to mortgages, to get a flow of funds into or out of bonds. The high interest-elasticity thus suggests capital market efficiency in the allocation of funds.

Policy loans, although not determined by the life insurance companies themselves, represent financial disintermediation peculiar to the life insurance industry. The volume of policy loans outstanding varies directly with

interest rates and adversely affects the ability of the companies to take advantage of higher-yielding investments during periods when interest rates are high or rising.

In terms of any direct impact of monetary policy on portfolio management, the "tentative" result is that it has no effect. The word tentative is used to indicate that the specifications and assumptions of the present study could very well have masked any direct impact of monetary policy.

It is rather difficult to say precisely how good or bad the results of the present study are considering the exploratory and apparently pioneering nature of the study. There are no known similar studies against which to compare the present results. Silber (1970) did a similar but not directly comparable study. For one thing, the specification of his demand equations is different from that used here. For another, he estimated the levels of assets in the portfolio. It was argued in this study that the portfolio manager would be more concerned with investing net inflows of funds than with rearranging the existing or already invested portfolio. As a result, the focus of this study was to estimate quarterly changes in each asset. However, although not reported, results similar to Silber's were obtained when the levels of the various assets were estimated.

A major problem with the present study and the related studies cited in Chapter II would appear to be their highly aggregative nature. The aggregation problem encompasses several levels. In the first place, all life insurance companies were lumped together. Life insurance companies vary in size from the very small with assets in the millions of dollars to the very large with assets in the billions of dollars. It is conceivable that portfolio management could be as disparate as the number and sizes of companies in the industry. Management could vary from conservative to aggres-In the second place, the industry is highly regulated sive. and in some cases there are as many variations in the requlations as there are states. Thirdly, yields on assets were taken as given in the present study and some composite index of an average rate of return for each asset was used. This could be a source of problems. Within each class of assets and its corresponding rate of return, there could be substantial divergencies. For example, within corporate stocks and bonds held by life insurance companies, yields vary depending on the issuing company. Fourthly, the yields were treated as exogenous variables and ordinary least squares were used to estimate the demand for the assets. This assumes that rates of return and the risks associated with those rates and expected rates are independent of the investor. This seems unlikely. It is more likely, given the size of life insurance

companies, that their combined demand or lack of demand for some asset will affect the price and yield of that asset. This suggests that perhaps a system where the rates are endogenously determined would be more appropriate.

Another problem, pointed out earlier, is that there may exist some fairly strong but numerically immeasurable determinants of portfolio management such as good will and the need to project the image of a good corporate citizen. Such motives could lead to greater profitability in the long run, but could mean sacrificing some higher returns in the short run.

All the problems discussed above are candidates for further research. Another important subject for further research would be the forward commitment process used by life insurance companies to extend commitments to those seeking mortgage and bond financing. Life insurance companies use the forward commitment process rather extensively. The impact of the determinants of portfolio management, perhaps, may be felt more at the commitment instead of the acquisition stage of investment. If that indeed is the case, then it would be fruitful to obtain forecasts of future availability of funds and then to delineate the factors that determine how, why and how much of these funds are committed to the various assets. This would provide an opportunity to build expectation and its role into the model. A study of forward commitment and the

role of expectations in this process, would afford a better insight on the effect of monetary policy on portfolio management. Monetary policy changes may have their greatest impact on portfolio management by changing expectations about future yields and thus the direction and amount of funds committed to the various assets in the portfolio.

Another suggestion would be the disaggregation of the topic. The result may not be generalizable, but it might be fruitful to find an "average" life insurance company in terms of the size of its assets and to study its portfolio management. This could give some useful insights into the overall portfolio management problems of the entire industry, especially with respect to institutional constraints and the nonprofit motives that help, in addition to profit considerations, to determine the flow of funds into the various assets.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Brainard, W. C., and James Tobin. 1968. Pitfalls in Financial Model Building. American Economic Review 1968: 99-122.
- Chow, Gregory C. 1960. Tests of Equality between Sets of Coefficients in Two Linear Regressions. Econometrica 28: 591-605.
- De Leeuw, Frank. 1965. A Model of Financial Behavior in Brookings Quarterly Econometric Model of the United States, Chapter 13. Rand McNally & Co., Skokie, Ill.
- Durbin, J., and G. S. Watson. 1950. Testing for Serial Correlation in Least-Squares Regression. Biometrika 37: 409-428.
- Durbin, J., and G. S. Watson. 1951. Testing for Serial Correlation in Least-Squares Regression. Biometrika 38: 159-178.
- Francis, Jack C., and Stephen Archer. 1971. Portfolio Analysis. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- Fisher, F. M. 1970. Tests of Equality Between Sets of Coefficients in Two Linear Regressions: An Expository Note. Econometrica 38: 361-366.
- Havrilesky, Thomas. 1972. The Optimal Proximity of a Monetary Policy Target-Variable. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 4: 456-464.
- Havrilesky, Thomas, Robert Sapp and Robert Schweitzer. 1974. Tests of the Federal Reserve's Reaction to the State of the Economy: 1964-1973. Unpublished research manuscript. Duke University, Durham, North Carolina.
- Hendershott, Patric H. 1971. A Flow-of-Funds Model: Estimates for the Nonbank Finance Sector. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 3, No. 4.
- Henderson, James M. and Richard E. Quandt. 1971. Microeconomic Theory. McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York.

- Kleefeld, Kenneth R. 1973. A Study of the Postwar Demand for Financial Assets. Federal Reserve Board, Division of Research and Statistics. Special Studies Paper No. 33, July 17.
- Koyck, L. M. 1954. Distributed Lag and Investment Analysis. North Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam.
- Life Insurance Association of America. 1962. Life Insurance Companies as Financial Institutions. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- Life Insurance Fact Book, 1974. Institute of Life Insurance, New York, N.Y.
- Markowitz, Harry M. 1959. Portfolio Selection. Yale University Press, New Haven, Conn.
- Poole, William. 1970. Optimal Choice of Monetary Policy Instruments in a Simple Stochastic Macro Model. Quarterly Journal of Economics 84: 197-216.
- Robinson, Roland. 1964. Money and Capital Markets. McGraw Hill, Inc., New York.
- Saving, Thomas R. 1967. Monetary-Policy Targets and Indicators. Journal of Political Economy 75: 446-458.
- Schott, Francis H. 1971. Disintermediation Through Policy Loans at Life Insurance Companies. Journal of Finance 26: 719-729.
- Silber, William. 1970. Portfolio Behavior of Financial Institutions. Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Inc., New York.
- Starleaf, Dennis R., and James Stephenson. 1969. A Suggested Solution to the Monetary-Policy Indicator Problem: The Monetary Full Employment Interest Rate. Journal of Finance 24: 623-641.
- Straszheim, Mahlon R. 1971. The Demand for Corporate Stock in the Postwar Period. Institutional Investor Study Report of the Securities and Exchange Commission (Washington, D.C.) Supplementary Volume I: 201-251.
- Tobin, James. 1958. Liquidity Preference as Behavior Towards Risk. Review of Economics Studies 25: 65-86.

Tobin, James. 1965. The Theory of Portfolio Selection. Pages 3-51 in E. H. Hahn and F. P. R. Breckling, eds. The Theory of Interest Rates. Macmillan Co., Ltd., London.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to extend my thanks to Dr. Dennis Starleaf for his guidance and suggestions which proved immensely helpful and to Dr. Duane Harris for his help and comments especially through the early stages. I also owe a debt of gratitude to the many friends who, at times, provided sanity-preserving distractions and at other times provided the encouragement and stimulation that helped see this through.

APPENDIX

Sources of Data

- 1. Data on the assets -- mortgage holdings, corporate bonds, corporate stocks, U.S. government bonds, state-local government bonds and "policy loans" -- were obtained from various issues of the Federal Reserve Bulletin. Quarterly averages used in the study were created from the monthly series reported in the Bulletin.
- 2. The interest rates used in the study also were quarterly averages of monthly data obtained from several issues of the Federal Reserve Bulletin, except where indicated below.
 - a. U.S. Government Bond rate the rate on long-term government bonds.
 - b. Treasury Bill rate: the yield on three-month treasury bills.
 - c. Corporate Bond rate: the yield on long-term corporate bonds prepared by Moody's investor service on Baa corporate bonds.
 - d. Earnings-Price ratio: a measure of the returns from common stocks.
 - e. Mortgage rate: the yield on conventional first mortgages.

- f. State-local government bond rate: the yield on 15 high-grade municipals (Standard and Poor's averages).
- g. GNP deflator: the implicit price deflator was obtained from various issues of the Survey of Current Business and from this series the rate of inflation (rate of change in the GNP deflator) was created using the formula $\frac{P_{t+1}-P_{t}}{P_{t}} = \frac{\Delta P}{P}$.

Variable Dictionary

A = total assets

 $\Delta A = A_t - A_{t-1} = change in level of assets$

C = corporate bonds

G = U.S. government bonds

S = state-local government bonds

- M = mortgages
- K = stocks

 r_{α} = interest rate on U.S. government bonds

r_{th} = interest rate on three-month treasury bills

r_ = interest rate on state-local government bonds

r_m = mortgage yield

r = interest rate on corporate bonds

E/P = earnings-price ratio on common stocks

 \dot{P}/P = rate of change in the GNP deflator

- D = seasonal dummy variables. i = 1,2,3. Each variable takes on a value of 1 for the quarter represented by its subscript and is zero elsewhere. The dummy variables are included to account for any independent seasonal patterns that may exist in the demand for securities.
- Δ (PL/A) = change in policy loans as a proportion of total assets

r_{tb} = yield on three-month treasury bills

r = yield on long-term government bonds

U = unemployment rate

•

CSV = cash surrender value of policies in force